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The Board of Directors and Managing Director of BioGaia AB (publ), Corporate 
Identification No 556380-8723, hereby submit their annual report and consolidat-
ed accounts for the financial year 2009. The financial statements were approved 
for publication by the Board of the Parent Company on 22 February 2010.

BioGaia AB
 
The Company
BioGaia is a biotechnology company that develops, markets and sells probiotic 
products with documented health benefits. The products are primarily based 
on different strains of the lactic acid bacterium Lactobacillus reuteri (Reuteri) 
which has health-enhancing effects. BioGaia has also developed unique deliv-
ery systems, such as probiotic-containing straws and caps that make it possible 
to create probiotic products with a long shelf life.
 
BioGaia has 45 employees, of whom 19 are based in Stockholm, 19 in Lund, 3 in 
Raleigh, USA, and 4 in Hiroshima, Japan.

The class B shares of the Parent Company BioGaia AB are quoted on the Small 
Cap list of the NASDAQ OMX Nordic Exchange Stockholm. 

Business model
BioGaia’s turnover consists mainly of revenue from the sale of finished con-
sumer products (tablets, drops and oral health products) to distributors, but 
also of revenue from the sale of component products such as Reuteri cultures, 
straws and caps. 
 
BioGaia’s products are sold through nutritional, food, natural health and phar-
maceutical companies in some 50 countries worldwide. In Sweden, BioGaia’s 
products are sold under the brands Semper Magdroppar and Vätskeersättning 
and Gum PerioBalance lozenges in pharmacies, as well as Semper whole grain 
cereal and infant formula with active culture and Probiomax intestinal health 
tablets in grocery stores. 

BioGaia holds patents for the use of Reuteri and certain delivery systems on all 
the major markets. 

The BioGaia brand
BioGaia’s licensees add Reuteri culture to their products and sell these under 
their own brand names. On these products, the BioGaia brand is shown on the 
package as the licensor/patent holder.

Some of BioGaias distributors sell finished consumer products under their own 
brand names. For these products, the BioGaia brand is shown on the consumer 
package since BioGaia is both manufacturer and licensor.
 
At the end of 2005, BioGaia launched its own consumer brand and today there 
are a number of distributors that sell BioGaia’s finished products under the 
BioGaia brand on a large number of markets. A central feature of BioGaia’s 
strategy is to increase the share of sales consisting of BioGaia-branded products. 

 
Research and clinical studies
BioGaia’s research is focused on the selection of different probiotics for the 
gastrointestinal system, the immune system and oral health. Extensive clinical 
studies have shown that BioGaia’s various probiotic products: 
 
• stimulate the human immune system, 
• protect against gastrointestinal and respiratory tract infections,  
• reduce the risk of side effects from antibiotic treatment, 
• reduce the level of H. pylori infections, 
• reduce the occurrence of infantile colic,
• reduce the risk of infection and improve the gastrointestinal function in   
    prematurely born infants,
• reduce gum inflammation, plaque and the risk of dental caries.

Key events in 2009

Sales contracts

Contract with Aqua Scandik 
In January 2009, CapAble signed an agreement with the Mexican water 
company Aqua Scandik giving them the right to use LifeTop Cap with Reuteri. 
Aqua Scandik will launch water in three different flavours with Reuteri. The 
launch is expected to take place in 2010.

Pharmaceutical in India
BioGaia has an agreement with Tablets India Ltd. for the production and sale 
on the Indian market of products based on BioGaia’s probiotics. 

The first product launched on the Indian market in April 2009 was a capsule 
under the brand name Apylori Probiotic Capsules. The product is manu-
factured by Tablets India and is registered as a pharmaceutical that will be 
prescribed by physicians and distributed through pharmacies. 

Distribution agreement with Ewopharma for Serbia and Croatia
In March, BioGaia extended its collaboration with the Swiss pharmaceutical 
company Ewopharma AG, giving the company exclusive rights to sell BioGaia’s 
Probiotic drops and tablets under the BioGaia brand in Serbia and Croatia 

Agreement with InfectoPharm
In June, BioGaia signed an exclusive distribution agreement for BioGaia’s 
Probiotic drops with the German pharmaceutical company InfectoPharm. The 
product will be sold under the BioGaia brand and the launch is scheduled for 2010. 

Agreement with Semper
At the end of June, BioGaia signed an agreement with Semper giving Semper 
exclusive rights to distribute a probiotic oral rehydration solution containing 
Reuteri in Sweden and Norway. The rehydration solution is administered in 
cases of diarrhoea and vomiting to quickly restore the body’s salt and fluid 
balance. The probiotic rehydration solution is pre-mixed in a sachet and was 
launched in Swedish pharmacies in August 2009.

Administration report
Figures in brackets refer to the previous year
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Distributor/licensee Product Country

Biolife Single-portion sachet containing  
colostrum and Reuteri

China

Delta Medcial Tablets Ukraine
Delta Medical Drops Kazakhstan
Ewopharma Drops and tablets Romania and Croatia
Ferring Tablets Mexico
Ferring Drops Lebanon, Greece,  

Saudi Arabia and Ireland
Laboratoires Bioetic Drops and tablets France
Neocare Drops and tablets Belgium and Luxembourg
Nestlé Infant formula with Reuteri France
Semper Rehydration solution with Reuteri Sweden
Tablets India Capsule with Reuteri India
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Agreement with Laboratoires BIOETHIC 
In August, BioGaia signed a distribution agreement with the French company 
Laboratoires BIOETHIC. The agreement gives Laboratoires BIOETHIC exclu-
sive rights to sell BioGaia's Probiotic drops and tablets in France. The products 
are sold under the BioGaia brand. The launch of BioGaia’s Probiotic drops and 
tablets took place in the fourth quarter of 2009. 

Extended agreements with Delta Medical and Ewopharma 
In the third quarter of 2009, BioGaia signed extended agreements with Delta 
Medical and Ewopharma. The agreement with Delta Medical grants them 
the right to sell BioGaia’s Probiotic drops and tablets in Armenia, Azerbaijan, 
Belarus, Georgia, Kyrgyzstan, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan. The agreement 
with Ewopharma grants them the right to sell BioGaia’s Probiotic drops and 
tablets in Moldavia.

Agreement with Pharma Nord 
BioGaia has signed an agreement with the Danish company Pharma Nord Aps 
which gives Pharma Nord exclusive rights to sell BioGaia's Probiotic tablets and 
drops in Denmark. The launch is expected to take place in the first half of 2010.

Other events in 2009

Study shows that BioGaia’s Probiotic chewable tablets are effective in 
reducing diarrhoea caused by antibiotics 
In a new double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical study, supplementation 
with BioGaia's Probiotic chewable tablets containing L. reuteri was effective in 
reducing the incidence of diarrhoea in hospitalised patients who were treated 
with antibiotics. The study, which was performed at the University Hospitals 
Case Medical Center in Cleveland, Ohio, USA, was presented by Cimperman 
and his colleagues at the Clinical Nutrition Week 2009 Conference held in New 
Orleans.

Personnel changes in BioGaia 
Jan Annwall, Deputy Managng Director, one of the Company’s founders, Chief 
Financial Officer and Board member of BioGaia AB, announced in September 
that he will leave his position in the company in connection with his 60th 
birthday in April 2010. After this date, Jan will be at the company’s disposal on 
a consultant basis. Jan has declared that he will remain available for election as 
a Board member at the 2010 Annual General Meeting. 
BioGaia’s Board of Directors has appointed Margareta Hagman och Urban 
Strindlöv as Deputy Managing Directors of the company as from 1 April 2010.  
Margareta will be responsible for accounting, finance and administration, 
while Urban will be responsible for product development and special business 
development projects. 

Events after the end of the year

Agreement with Nippon Access 
After a long period of trial sales through various distribution channels and 
discussions with a number of possible distributors in Japan, BioGaia has chosen 
to sign an agreement with one of Japan’s largest wholesalers, Nippon Access, a 
subsidiary of the major trading house Itochu. In addition to the distribution of 
food products through Nippon Access, Itochu also handles the distribution of 
pharmaceuticals to pharmacies via two different subsidiaries. The agreement 
covers food products and infant formula with Reuteri and BioGaia’s primary 
products such as drops, oral health lozenges and Life Top Straw. Sales will be 
handled by BioGaia’s Japanese subsidiary, which will also support Nippon 
Access’s marketing of the products through the training of doctors, sales 
representatives and marketing staff and through participation in negotiations 
with companies that are interested in selling products with Reuteri. Under the 
agreement, the company hopes that BioGaia’s products can be quickly launched 
on a large scale on the Japanese market via a number of distribution channels 
that were difficult to reach through the previous business model. The launch 
will take place in the second quarter of 2010. 

This agreement does not affect the existing distributors in Japan, Erina, Chichiyasu 
and Earth Biochemical. 
 
 
 
Financial development during 2009

Sales
Consolidated net sales amounted to SEK 203.5 million (145.2), an increase of 
40% compared to the previous year. Of the sales increase, SEK 13.7 million is 
attributable to rises in the exchange rates for EUR and JPY compared to the 
previous year. Apart from the currency effect, the turnover increased by 31%. 
The period’s exchange rate changes (mainly in EUR and JPY) increased both 
revenues and costs, resulting in a net gain of SEK 6.4 million. 

The sales of BioGaia’s finished consumer products in Europe accounted for 
most of the sales increase compared to the previous year. Of the total finished 
consumer products, 31% (21) were sold under the BioGaia brand. 

Gross profits
The gross profits amounted to SEK 135.3 million (97.0), an improvement of SEK 
38.3 million compared to the previous year.  
 
Other operating expenses
Sales expenses rose by SEK 9.3 million over the previous year, due partly to 
increased marketing and PR activities and partly to higher personnel costs.

R&D expenses amounted to SEK 27 million (23.0), which is equal to 17% (19) 
of the total operating expenses and 13% (16) of the turnover. The rise in R&D 
expenses is due to a higher level of activity in clinical studies that began during 
the year, as well as increased product development costs. The amortisation 
component of R&D expenses amounted to SEK 3.0 million (3.4). Investments in 
capitalised development expenses amounted to SEK 0 (0).

Operating profits
The operating profits amounted to SEK 47.7 million (25.8), i.e. SEK 21.9 million 
more than in the previous year.  

Profit before tax
The profit before tax was SEK 53.1 million (24), an increase of SEK 29.1 mil-
lion over the previous year. Net financial items include an unrealised foreign 
exchange gain of SEK 4.5 million on forward exchange contracts in EUR. On 
31 December 2009 the company had entered into forward exchange contracts 
for EUR 7.8 at an average exchange rate of SEK 10.70. Forward exchange 
contracts amounting to EUR 7.2 million will mature in 2010 and the remaining 
EUR 0.6 million in 2011. The actual foreign exchange gain/loss depends on 
the exchange rate on the maturity date of the contracts. If the EUR rate on the 
maturity date is lower/higher than that on 31 December 2009 (10.32), a foreign 
exchange gain/loss will be recognised. 

Profit after tax
The profit after reported tax was SEK 36.0 million (36.1), a decrease of SEK 0.1 
million compared to the previous year. The profit for the year includes a reported 
tax expense of SEK 17.1 million relating to a change in the deferred tax asset. The 
profit for the previous year included a deferred tax benefit of SEK 12.1 million. 

The Group pays no tax because of the existence of a cumulative loss carryfor-
ward. The Group’s loss carryforwards on 31 December 2009 amounted to SEK 
45.4 million, of which the Swedish companies accounted for SEK 15.6 million. 
The deferred tax asset amounts to SEK 4.1 million and is attributable to the 
Swedish companies. The reported tax expense is attributable to a change in the 
deferred tax asset. 

Earnings per share
The earnings per share after tax amounted to SEK 2.11 (2.10). A total of 128,950 
options have been subscribed for in BioGaia’s ongoing incentive scheme. Since 
the share price at year-end exceeded the subscription price, the outstanding 
options are estimated to have a dilution effect. After dilution, the earnings per 
share are SEK 2.09. The profit for the year includes a reported tax expense of 
SEK 17.1 million pertaining to a change in the deferred tax asset. The profit for the 
previous year included a deferred tax benefit of SEK 12.1 million. The earnings 
per share before tax and dilution were SEK 3.09 (1.40).

Cash flow
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2009 totalled SEK 100.3 
million (58.1). 

The cash flow for the year was SEK 42.5 million (14.3), an improvement of SEK 
28.2 million compared to the previous year. 

The cash flow from operating activities before change in working capital was SEK 
52.6 million (32.4), an increase of SEK 20.2 million compared to the previous year. 

During the year, the Group has paid dividends of SEK 6.9 million and a conditional 
shareholder contribution of SEK 1.0 million to the associated company TwoPac.

Equity
The consolidated equity amounted to SEK 161.1 million (132.4). The Group’s 
equity/assets ratio was 90% (86). 

Capital expenditure
The capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment totalled SEK 2.9 
million (2.4).  

Parent Company
The Parent Company’s turnover amounted to SEK 198.6 million (143.6) and the 
profit after net financial items was SEK 53.8 million (17.8).
This figure includes an impairment loss of SEK 13.4 million (13.5) on receiva-
bles from the Japanese subsidiary. The profit after tax was SEK 36.2 million 
(29.5). The cash flow in the Parent Company amounted to SEK 41.3 million 
(12.8). The cash flow from investment activities includes a loan of SEK 12.2 mil-
lion (10.6) to the Japanese subsidiary.
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Research and development activities
BioGaia has a large research network and cooperates with universities and hos-
pitals around the world, including SLU in Uppsala, the Karolinska Institute in 
Stockholm, the Texas Children Hospital in USA, the University Hospital in Bari, 
Italy and the University Hospital in Turin, Italy. The research includes studies of 
the Reuteri genome and how it is linked to the function and effects of the bacte-
rium. In addition, the company is seeking to identify and develop new probiot-
ic lactic acid bacteria with a potential for a number of applications in human 
beings and is carrying out clinical trials of its products and new probiotics. 

The research and development costs amounted to  SEK 27,0 (23,0) million 
which is 17 (19) per cent of the total operating costs and 13 (16) per cent of the 
turnover. The increase in the research and development costs is due to an 
increased activity with respect to clinical studies which began during the year 
and also to an increase in product development costs.  These costs included 
impairment costs amounting to SEK 3,0 (3,4) million. Investments in balanced 
costs for development work amounted to SEK 0 (0).

For further information see note 13.

Reporting of clinical studies 
The publication of clinical trial results is a key success factor for BioGaia. The 
International Committee of Medical Journal Editors has initiated a policy requiring 
clinical investigators to deposit information about trial design in an accepted clini-
cal trials register before the onset of patient enrolment, and this is now becoming 
a prerequisite for publication of trial outcomes in major medical journals. Clinical-
Trials.gov is a register of clinical trials provided by the U.S. National Institutes of 
Health, and BioGaia encourages all doctors working with BioGaia products to reg-
ister their trials on this site. Many of the trials are registered at an early stage, which 
means that some of the registered trials will not be performed as planned. Conse-
quently, BioGaia takes no responsibility for ensuring that the registered trials reach 
completion or are successfully reported in the register or in the scientific literature. 
When clinical trial results do become available, BioGaia will report these through 
press releases if such results are of significant importance for its operations.

Environmental information
BioGaia contributes to a positive development in the environmental sector 
through its ecological commitment. The micro-organisms used by the company 
are natural and are normally present in human beings. The modes of action of 
the micro-organisms are fully based on ecological biological principles. Human 
health requires a balance in the body’s different systems.  An imbalance rapidly 
leads to a deterioration in the body’s immune system. An ecological biological 
approach is thus the foundation of the company’s activity.
 
BioGaia manufactures no products itself and can therefore to only a limited 
degree control the manufacturing procedures. In addition, BioGaia’s products are 
sensitive to temperature, moisture and oxygen, and this can make special 
demands on the packaging materials used for BioGaia’s products. Within these 
limitations, the company seeks to use suppliers, materials and manufacturing 
methods which have as little effect as possible on the environment.

BioGaia decided during 2008 to review the effects of its business on the climate, 
and during 2009, cooperation has begun with IVL, the Swedish Environmental 
Research Institute. The first task is to calculate and compare the environmental 
effects of the company’s different packages.  This will mean that it will be possible 
to include an environmental perspective in the choice of new packaging or in 
changes in the existing materials. 

The company has no reporting obligation.

Business risks and uncertainties
BioGaia’s operations are associated with both risks and opportunities of various 
types. Certain risks are of a general nature, while others are more specific to the 
Company. The following section is not a complete risk analysis, but an indication 
of the factors of importance for future development.

The Japanese venture
The business model previously chosen in Japan was not successful. Measures have 
now been taken to change the business model (see above).  On the closing day,  the
assets relating to the Japanese company are reported as amounting to SEK 5.0 million, 
The company’s assessment is that there is no indication to write down these assets.

Shares in associated companies and receivables from associated companies 
Shares in associated companies (TwoPac AB) and receivables from associated 
companies amount to a total of SEK 13.8 million in the Group and in the Parent 
Company. TwoPac’s profits in 2009 amounted to SEK 1.1 million.  TwoPac AB’s 
primary activity is the development of product machinery and the manufacture of 
BioGaia’s probiotic drops, straws and LifeTop Caps on behalf of BioGaia.  BioGaia’s 
assessment is that TwoPac will continue to show a good profitability and that 
there is no need for any write-down on the closing day.

Shares in group companies 
The shares in and receivables from the subsidiary CapAble amount to a total of 
SEK 5,8 million in the Parent Company. CapAble reports a loss of SEK 2,3 mil-
lion for 2009. CapAble, which is owned to 90,1 % by BioGaia AB was created 
in November 2008 in order to manufacture and sell the patented LifeTop Cap 

capsule. In this capsule, sensitive ingredients that do not survive in the drink 
can be placed in an aluminium blister which is sealed into the capsule. When 
the drink is consumed, these ingredients are released and fall into the drink.  
The capsule was initially developed to contain lacto acid bacteria but it is also 
suitable for vitamins and minerals. The plastic components are purchased from 
BeriCap in France and the filling and sealing of the blister is carried out by 
TwoPac AB in Eslöv. Since it started, CapAble has primarily sought to complete 
the production equipment, trim the production and supply small quantities to a 
few customers. BioGaia’s assessment is that CapAble will generate good profit-
ability and that there is no need for any write-down on the closing day. 

Dependence on Reuteri 
Most of the products are based on the positive effects of using Lactobacillus reuteri. 
This creates advantages for the Company, since for example the research and 
development are applicable to various products. However, there can be risks in 
relying on a single species of lactobacilli. To avoid this risk, the Company has 
developed new probiotic strains from other lactobacillus families that will be a 
part of the future product range if these development efforts are successful.  .  

Products on the market 
BioGaia does not sell directly to the end-use consumer, but instead sells primarily 
to major companies which then market the products to consumers. This means 
that the Company is dependent on their customer’s confidence in the products 
and their willingness to invest the resources necessary to attain profitability. In 
order to reduce this dependence, BioGaia’s own brand was launched in 2005. 
Today, there are a number customers that sell products wholly or partly under the 
BioGaia brand in a large number of countries. 

Research and development 
BioGaia invests considerable sums in research, clinical studies and product 
development with the aim of developing health-promoting and profitable 
products. Even after thorough pilot studies, there is always a risk that a project 
will be wholly or partly unsuccessful or that the finished concept will not be 
appreciated by potential customers.  

Intellectual property 
BioGaia’s business activities are based on a large amount of intellectual property 
including patents, brand trademarks, names of strains and internet domains. The 
Company works continuously to strengthen its intellectual property to protect the 
use of the company’s products.

There is always a risk of infringement of intellectual property, but the Company 
is not currently engaged in any dispute. The Company continuously monitors 
its rights, but there is no guarantee that future infringements will not cause the 
Company damage. The Company continuously monitors the market.
 
Personnel
The Company’s most valuable resource is its employees. Its operations are 
totally dependent on their expertise, and consequently it is vital for the 
Company’s development to be able to attract and retain skilled and motivated 
employees in the future.

Product liability insurance
BioGaia has product liability insurance that provides coverage up to SEK 60 mil-
lion per claim and up to a maximum of SEK 120 million annually. The insurance is 
valid worldwide. 
 

Financial risk management
The overall objective of the Group’s finance function is to secure a cost-effective 
financing of the Group’s operations and group companies and to provide secure 
cash management with a market-based return on invested assets. The overall ob-
jective of the financial risk management is to minimise the risk of negative effects 
on the Group’s earnings. Consequently, the Group’s financial investments must 
have a low risk profile.

The Group’s assessed risk exposure and related risk management are described below.

Currency risk
BioGaia has revenue and expenses primarily in SEK, EUR, USD and DKK. In 2009 
the Company had a cash flow surplus of approximately EUR 10,200,000 (6,600,000), 
a cash flow deficit of USD 340,000 (440,000) and a cash flow surplus of DKK 
1,300,000 (3,400,000). The increase in sales has also led to increased currency 
risks, for which reason the company has taken currency hedges in EUR. As per 31 
December 2009 the Company had forward exchange contracts for a total of EUR 7.8 
million at an average exchange rate of SEK 10.70, of which EUR 7.2 million mature in 
2010 and EUR 06 million in 2011. For more information, see Note 20.

Interest rate risk
The Group has no interest rate risk.

Credit risk
BioGaia's credit risks are attached to trade receivables and loans to associated 
companies and, for the Parent Company, also a loan to a subsidiary. When signing 
agreements with new customers, BioGaia always makes an assessment of the 
customer’s financial position. The company has routines for claiming receivables 
due and if necessary makes a new evaluation of a company’s financial status in 
order to minimise the risks. 
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The loan to the associated company TwoPac AB has been primarily used to develop 
equipment for the production of delivery systems (BioGaia's probiotic straw and 
LifeTop Cap). TwoPac's primary operations are the develop¬ment of production 
equipment and the manufacture of BioGaia's probiotic drops, straws and LifeTop 
Cap on behalf of BioGaia. The Company's assessment is that TwoPac will show 
good profitability and that the loan therefore entails no credit risk. 

The loan from the Parent Company to the subsidiary CapAble AB has been used 
for the purchase of a machine for the manufacture of LifeTop Cap. The Company's 
assessment is that the loan entails no credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Excess liquidity is invested at bank interest rates or in fixed-income securities 
with a high credit rating.

Cash flow risk 
In 2009 BioGaia had a positive cash flow from operating activities before changes 
in working capital, amounting to SEK 52.6 million (32.4). After changes in work-
ing capital, the cash flow was SEK 53.3 million (19.2). The total cash flow for the 
year was SEK 42.5 million (14.3). Since the cash and cash equivalents as per 31 
December 2009 amounted to SEK 100.3 million (58.1) and the cash flow is positive, 
no infusion of capital is necessary.

Price risk
BioGaia buys most of its goods on an international market with several alterna-
tive suppliers, which minimises the Company’s price risk. 

Personnel
The number of employees in the Group on 31 December 2009 was 45 (42), consisting 
of 27 women and 18 men. The management team includes 8 men and 2 women. 
In 2009, three new employees were hired and no one resigned from the Company. 

BioGaia’s incentive scheme for the employees
In June 2007, BioGaia carried out an options programme approved by the AGM. 
A total of 128 950 options were subscribed for by the employees (of which 27 000 
by the management), which led to a dilution of ca. 0.7% on the total number of 
shares and ca. 0.5% on the total number of votes. Each option grants the holder 
the right to subscribe for one class B share for SEK 76.70 during the period from 
15 May 2010 to 31 August 2010. The option price was calculated according to 
the customary valuation method (Black & Scholes model) and amounted to SEK 
5.32 per option, which meant that the employees subscribed for the options on 
market-based terms. In the valuation in accordance with the Black & Scholes 
model, a volatility of 30% and a risk-free interest rate of 3.92% were used.

 
Future outlook
BioGaia’s goal is to create a strong value growth and a good return for the share-
holders. This shall be achieved through a greater emphasis on the BioGaia brand, 
increased sales to both existing and new customers and a controlled cost level.

The financial target is to achieve a sustainable profit margin (profit before tax in 
relation to total turnover) of at least 25% with a continued strong growth and 
increased investments in research, product development and brand building. 
BioGaia’s ambition is to pay a shareholder dividend equal to 30% of the profits 
after paid tax.

During 2010, product launches are expected to take place in a large number of 
countries.

In view of the Company’s strong product portfolio consisting of an increased 
number of innovative products partly under the company’s own brand, together 
with successful clinical trials and a growing distribution network covering a 
large share of the key markets, the future outlook for BioGaia is bright. 

  
The Board's proposal to the AGM regarding remuneration 
and other conditions of employment of senior executives
The Board proposes that the AGM shall approve the following guidelines for 
the determination of the remuneration and other conditions of employment for 
senior executives within the Group. The principles shall apply for employment 
contracts entered into after the decision of the AGM and in so far as amend-
ments are made to existing conditions after this date.

 
It is of fundamental importance for the Board that the principles for remunera-
tion and other conditions of employment for senior executives in the Group 
shall in a long-term perspective motivate and make it possible to retain com-
petent colleagues who work to achieve the maximum value for shareholders 
and customers.  To achieve this, it is important to maintain just and internally 
balanced conditions which are at the same time market-based and competi-
tive with regard to structure, scope and remuneration level.  The full packet 
of conditions for individual persons should contain a suitable balance of fixed 
salary, variable remuneration, long-term incentives, pension benefits and other 
benefits and conditions for notice and severance compensation.
 
Fixed salary – The fixed salary shall be individual and based both upon each 
individual person’s responsibility and role and upon that person’s competence 
and experience in the position concerned. 

 

Variable remuneration –  The variable remuneration shall be not more than 10 
% of the total remuneration. 
 
Long-term incentives – The Board shall annually consider whether a share-
related or share-price-related long-term incentive programme shall be put 
before the AGM. Other types of long-term incentive programme can be decided 
upon by the Board. Any compensation in the form of a long-term incentive 
programme shall be in line with current practice on the respective markets.

 
Pensions – Senior executives who are entitled to a pension shall have a fee-
based pension agreement. Senior executives who are Swedish citizens retire at 
the age of 65 years, and others in accordance with their own country’s pension 
regulations.  The final pension is dependent on the result of the pension insur-
ance taken out.

 
Other benefits – Other benefits shall have a limited value in relation to the 
other compensation and shall conform to what is customary on the respective 
geographical markets.

 
Conditions of notice and severance compensation  – The Managing Director 
and the Company have a mutual period of notice of 18 months. If the Company 
dismisses the Managing Director, he shall be entitled to a salary during a ter-
mination period of 18 months.  The Company’s Deputy Managing Director(s) 
shall have a corresponding period of notice of six months, and other senior 
executives three months. 

The Board propose that the Board shall be granted the possibility to depart 
from these proposed guidelines if there should in any particular case be special 
reasons for so doing.

Further information relating to payments to senior executives is given in Note 5. 
 

 
The most recently approved guidelines regarding  
remuneration and other conditions of employment  
for senior executives
The guidelines proposed to the AGM (see above) are in agreement with the 
most recently approved guidelines except that the item relating to variable 
remuneration has been added and that the period of notice for the company’s 
Deputy Managing Director(s) has been changed. 

 
 
Corporate governance
BioGaia has issued a separate corporate governance report, see page 26.
 
 
Share information
The total registered share capital of BioGaia AB consists of 740,668 class A 
shares and 16,466,894 class B shares, giving a total of 17,207,562 shares. One 
class A share carries 10 votes and one class B share carries 1 vote. The number 
of shareholders as per 31 December 2009 was 7,328 (6,596). The largest share-
holder is Annwall & Rothschild Investment AB which controls 11.6% of the 
share capital and 36.3% of the votes. For more information, see page 28-29.

 
 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with 
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) established by the Inter-
national Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the interpretations published 
by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 
as endorsed by the European Commission for application in the EU. For more 
information, see pages 10-12.

Proposed appropriation of profits
The following funds in the Parent Company are at the disposal of the Annual 
General Meeting (SEK):

Accumulated profits brought forward:  22,589,289 
Profit for the year:  36,196,273
Total:  58,785,562

The Board of Directors proposes the following appropriation:

To be paid as a dividend to the shareholders:  25,811,343*) 
To be carried forward to a new account:   32,974,219 

Total:  58,785,562

*) The proposed dividend consists of an ordinary dividend of SEK 0.90 per 
share, and taking into consideration the good liquidity and the strong balance 
sheet, an extra dividend of SEK 0.60 per share, which gives a total dividend of 
SEK 1.50 per share.

BioGaia 2009          Administration report
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Group

BioGaia 2009          Group

Income statements      
SEK 000s Note  2009 2008 2007

Net sales 2,3  203,461 145,190 106,580

Cost of goods sold   –68,151 –48,234 –35,122

Gross profit 2  135,310 96,956 71,458

     

Other operating income 4  750 4,059 1,691

Selling expenses 5  –52,906 –43,617 –37,739

Adminstrative expenses 5,6  –8,996 –8,193 –7,487

Research and development expenses 5,13  –27,000 –23,030 –17,938

Share in result of associated company 7  590 –334 –1,103

Operating profit 8  47,748 25,841 8,882

     

     

Financial income 9  5,428 2,744 1,882

Financial expenses 10  –63 –4,555 –75

Net financial items   5,365 –1,811 1,807

     

Profit before tax   53,113 24,030 10,689

     

Tax  11  –17,068 12,091 8,970

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR   36,045 36,121 19,659

 
Other comprehensive income
  
Gains and losses arising on translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations:   –464 1,290 36

Comprehensive income for the year   35,581 37,411 19,695
 

Attributable to:    

Owners of the Parent Company   36,310 36,121 19,659

Minority interests 12  –265 – –

   36,045 36,121 19,659
 
Comprehensive income for the period attributable to:    

Owners of the Parent Company   35,846 37,411 19,695

Minority interests   –265 – –

   35,581 37,411   19,695
 

  	 		

Earnings per share    

Basic earnings per share, SEK   2.11 2.10 1.14

Diluted earnings per share, SEK   2.09 2.10 1.14
Basic earnings per share before tax, SEK   3,09 1,40 0,62
Diluted earnings per share before tax, SEK   3,06 1,40 0,62
Number of shares, thousands   17,208 17,208 17,208
Average number of shares, thousands   17,208 17,208 17,208
Number of outstanding warrants, thousands   129 129 – 
Number of outstanding warrants with a     
dilutive effect, thousands   129 – – 
 Average number of shares after dilution, thousands   17,337 17,208 17,208

 
 

Cash flow statements 
SEK 000s Note  2009 2008 2007

 

Operating activities   

Operating result   47,748 25,841 8,882

Adjustments for non-cash items   

Depreciation/amortisation   4,144 4,260 3,979

Capital gains/losses on the sale       
of non-current assets   – 7 –

Share in result of associated company   –590 334 1 103

Other non-cash items   208 –407 –12

   51,510 30,035 13,952

     

Interest received   1,186 2,435 1,882

Interest paid   –60 –54 –75

Cash flow from operating activities    
before changes in working capital   52,636 32,416 15,759

     

Cash flow from changes in working capital  

Inventories   5,799 –8,381 –4,326

Current receivables   –6,944 –5,916 –5,987

Trade payables   2,124 599 –488

Current interest-free operating liabilities   –325 486 130

Cash flow from operating activities   53,290 19,204 5,088

     

Investing activities      
Purchase of intangible assets 13  – – –

Purchase of tangible assets 14  –2,895 –2,373 –2,005

Sale of tangible assets 14  – 19 –

Purchase of financial assets 15  –1,000 –2,600 –1,500
Net change of long-term receivables   14 –12 989

Cash flow from investing activities   –3,881 –4,966 –2,516
 

      
Financing activities 
New share issue warrants   – – 686
New share issue CapAble AB 15  – 99 –

Dividend   –6,883 – –

Cash flow from financing activities   –6,883 99 686

CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR   42,526 14,377 3,258

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  58,127 42,977 39,719

Exchange difference in cash and cash equivalents  –326 813 –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   100,327 58,127 42,977
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Balance sheets    
SEK 000s Note 31 Dec. 2009 31 Dec. 2008 31 Dec. 2007

    

ASSETS 

Non-current assets     
Intangible assets 13 2,285 5,050 8,199

Tangible assets 14 5,424 3,936 2,617

Participations in 

associated company 15, 29 9,441 7,851 5,585

Receivables from  
associated company 16, 19, 23, 29 4,400 4,400 4,400
Deferred tax asset 11 4,100 21,100 9,000

Deposits  31 47 27

Total non-current assets  25,681 42,384 29,828

    
 

Current assets     
Inventories 17 13,177 19,168 10,029

Trade receivables 18, 23 28,721 28,844 17,869

Receivables from  
associated company 19, 23 – – 85

Other receivables 20 5,648 2,133 1,765

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 21 6,180 3,570 7,600
Current investments 22, 23 80 80 620 
Cash and cash equivalents 23 100,327 58,127 42,977

Total current assets  154,133 111,922 80,945

TOTAL ASSETS  179,814 154,306 110,773

Balance sheets 
SEK 000s Note 31 Dec. 2009 31 Dec. 2008 31 Dec. 2007

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 24	 	 	
Share capital  17,208 17,208 17,208

Other contributed capital  77,701 77,701 212,091

Reserves  947 1,411 121
Accumulated deficit  29,118 –120 –154,169

Profit for the year attributable to    

owners in the Parent Company  36,310 36,121 19,659

Total equity attributable to   

owners in the Parent Company  161,284 132,321 94,910
 

Minority interests 12, 15 –166 99 –

Total equity                                                 161,118 132,420 94,910 
 
    
Liabilities 
Current liabilities   

Prepayments from customers 23 432 999 1,532

Trade payables 23 8,100 6,607 6,032
Liabilities to associated company 19, 23 664 53 –

Other liabilities 25 864 5,625 796

Accrued expenses and deferred income 26 8,636 8,602 7,503

Total current liabilities  18,696 21,886 15,863

 
Total liabilities  18,696 21,886 15,863

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  179,814 154,306 110,773

    
Pledged assets and contingent   

liabilities in the Group 27

BioGaia 2009          Group

Statement of changes in equity      
                      Equity attributable
                              Accumulated to owners
   Other contributed  Translation deficit incl. profit   in the Parent Minority Totalt
SEK 000s  Share capital capital reserve of the year   Company interests equity

      
Opening balance January 1, 2007   17,208 211,405 86 -154,169 74,530 0 74,530
 
New issue of warrants    686   686  686

Total transactions with owners  0 686 0 0 686 0 686

Profit for 2007      19,659 19,659  19,659 
 
Other comprehensive income 
Translation difference     35  35  35

Comprehensive income for the year  0 0 35 19,659 19,694 0 19,694
        
Closing balance December 31, 2007  17,208 212,091 121 -134,510 94,910 0 94,910

Appropriation of accumulated deficit    –-134,390  134,390 0  0 
New share issue CapAble AB       0 99 99

Total transactions with owners  0 –134,390 0 134,390 0 99 99 

Profit for 2008      36,121 36,121  36,121
 
Other comprehensive income 
Translation difference     1,290  1,290  1,290

Comprehensive income for the year  0 0 1,290 36,121 37,411 0 37,411

Closing balance December 31, 2008   17,208 77,701 1,411 36,001 132,321 99 132,420
 
Dividend      –6,883 –6,883  –6,883

Total transactions with owners   0 0 0 –6,883 –6,883 0 –6,883 
 
Profit for 2009      36,310 36,310 –265 36,045
 
Other comprehensive income
Translation difference     –464  –464  –464

Comprehensive income for the year  0 0 –464 36,310 35,846 –265 35,581 
 
Closing balance December 31, 2009  17,208 77,701 947 65,428 161,284 –166 161,118 
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Income statements     
SEK 000s Note  2009 2008 2007

Net sales 2,3  198,567 143,586 107,034

Cost of goods sold   –63,793 –47,211 –35,827

Gross profit 2  134,774 96,375 71,207

    

 

Selling expenses  5  –38,870 –36,035 –30,141

Administrative expenses 5,6  –8,918 –8,167 –7,488

Research and development expenses 5,13  –27,278 –23,042 –17,784

Other operating income 4  750 4,059 1,691

Operating profit 8  60,458 33,190 17,485

    

 

Result from financial investments
Result from participations in  
associated company 7,15  590 –334 –1,103
Result from participations 
in group companies 15  – –569 –
Write-down of receivable from subsidiary 16  –13,446 –13,467 –9,424

Interest income and similar  
profit/loss items 9  6,263 3,545 2,152

Interest expense and similar  
profit/loss items 10  –59 –4,553 –66

Net financial items   –6,652 –15,378 –8,441

Profit before tax   53,806 17,812 9,044 

Tax 11  –17,610 11,660 9,000

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR   36,196 29,472 18,044
	
	

Cash flow statements
SEK 000s                                          Note                   2009  2008 2007

Operating activities    
Operating profit   60,458 33,190 17,485

   

Adjustments for non-cash items   

Depreciation/amortisation  3,792 4,141 3,902

Capital gains/losses on the sale of non-current assets – 7 –

Other non-cash items  208 –407 –8

  64,458 36,931 21,379

    
 

Interest received  1,179 2,419 2,152

Interest paid  –58 –52 –66

Cash flow from operating activities   

before changes in working capital  65,579 39,298 23,465

    
 

Cash flow from changes in working capital    
Inventories  4,874 –8,041 –3,808

Current receivables  –5,459 –7,007 –7,089

Trade payables  1,837 1,686 –1,229

Current interest-free operating liabilities  –108 3,234 1,552

Cash flow from operating activities  66,723 29,170 12,890

    
 

Investing activities    

Purchase of intangible assets 13 – – –
Purchase of tangible assets 14 –2,323 –2,311 –1,827

Sale of tangible assets 14 1,022 19 –

Purchase of financial assets 15 –4,000 –3,501 –1,500

Payment of loan to subsidiary 16 –13,245 –10,595 –7,794
Decrease of non-current receivables  – – 1,000

Cash flow from investing activities  –18,546 –16,388 –10,121

   

Financing activities
New share issue warrants  – – 686
Dividend  –6,883 – –

Cash flow from financing activities  –6,883 – 686

CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR  41,294 12,782 3,455

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 55,293 42,103 38,640

Exchange difference in cash and cash equivalents –208 408 8

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 96,379 55,293 42,1038

Parent Company

BioGaia 2009          Parent Company
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Balance sheets   
SEK 000s Note 31 Dec. 2009 31 Dec. 2008  31 Dec. 2007

ASSETS    

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13   

Capitalised development expenditure  2,285 5,050 8,199 

Total intangible assets  2,285 5,050 8,199 
 
Tangible assets 14   

Production equipment  367 1,105 1,166
Office equipment and computers  3,488 2,476 1,121

Total tangible assets  3,855 3,581 2,287
     
Financial assets     
Participations in group companies 15 7,469 4,469 4,137

Participations in associated  
company 15,29 9,441 7,851 5,585

Receivables from  
group companies 16,19,29 1,022 – 1,325 
Receivables from  
associated company 16,19,23,29 4,400 4,400 4,400
Deferred tax asset 11 3,050 20,660 9,000

Total financial assets           25,383  37,380 24,447

Total non-current assets  31,522 46,011 34,933
 

Current assets    
Inventories 17 12,357 17,231 9,191

Current receivables     
Trade receivables 18 26,624 27,832 17,743

Receivables from group companies 19 884 553 –

Receivables from associated company 19 – – 85

Other receivables 20 4,972 1,938 1,426

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 21 5,995 3,383 7,327

Total current receivables  38,475 33,706 26,581
 
Current investments 22 80 80 620 
 

Cash and cash equivalents  96,379 55,293 42,103

Total current assets  147,291 106,310 78,495

TOTAL ASSETS  178,813 152,321 113,428

Balance sheets  
SEK 000s Note 31 Dec. 2009 31 Dec. 2008  31 Dec. 2007

 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity 24   
Restricted equity    
Share capital  17,208 17,208 17,208

Statutory reserve  77,000 77,700 211,405

  94,908 94,908 228,613
	 	 	 	
Non-restricted equity/Accumulated deficit
Share premium reserve  – – 686

Accumulated deficit  22,589 – –152,435

Profit for the year  36,196 29,472 18,044

  58,785 29,472 –133,705

Total equity  153,693 124,380 94,908

    

Liabilities

Current liabilities   

Prepayments from customers  432 999 1,532

Trade payables  7,751 6,525 4,892
Liabilities to associated companies 19 664 53 –

Liabilities to group companies 19 8,504 7,962 3,803

Other liabilities 25 660 5,452 761

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 26 7,109 6,949 7,532

Total current liabilities  25,120 27,941 18,520

Total liabilities  25,120 27,941 18,520

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  178,813 152,321 113,428

   

 Pledged assets and contingent liabilities for the Parent Company  

Floating charges 27 2,000 2,000 2,000

Contingent liabilities  None None None

BioGaia 2009          Parent Company

	

Statement of changes in equity         
    Share premium Accumulated deficit 
    reserve incl. profit  Total
SEK 000s  Share capital Statutory reserve                  non-restricted  for the year equity

Opening balance January 1, 2007  17,208 211,405 0 –152,435 76,178
 
New issue of warrants    686  686
Profit for 2007     18,044 18,044

Closing balance December 31, 2007  17,208 211,405 686 –134,391 94,908
 
Appropriation of accumulated deficit   –133,705 –686 134,391 0
Profit for 2008      29,472                  29,472

Closing balance December 31, 2008  17,208 77,700 0 29,472                     124,380
 
Dividend      –6,883 –6,883
Profit for 2009      36,196                36,196

Closing balance December 31, 2009  17,208 77,700 0 58,785                    153,693
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■ Note 1 Accounting principles

Compliance with Standards and Laws

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with 
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) published by the Inter-
national Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the interpretations published 
by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 
which have been approved by the European Commission for application in 
the EU. In addition, the Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s recommendation 
RFR 1.2, Supplementary Rules for Consolidated Financial Statements, has been 
applied. 

 
The Parent Company applies the Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s recom-
mendation RFR 2.2 Accounting for Legal Entities, i.e. the same accounting 
principles as the Group except in those  cases where the Parent Company’s 
compliance with the Swedish Companies Act limits the applicability of IFRS in 
the Parent Company.

 
Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2009 that have affected 
the Group’s disclosures  
The revised IAS 1, Structuring of financial reports, has been applied from 1 Jan-
uary 2009. The change means e.g. that the earnings and expenses which were 
previously reported directly against the equity, and which are not assignable to 
owner transactions are now shown in connection with the income statement.

 
IFRS 8, Operating segments, has been applied from 1 January 2009. This stand-
ard means that the reporting of the operating segments is adapted to the report-
ing which the management uses internally for the follow-up of its activities.
The application of IFRS 8 has meant that the division into segments has been 
changed so that it now comprises the following operating segments:

 

Notes to the financial statements and accounting policies
All figures in SEK 000s unless otherwise specified. Figures in brackets refer to the preceding year.

Finished consumer products: Sales of tablets, drops and oral health products, etc. 
Component products: Royalty income from the use of Reuteri, sales of cultures as 
an ingredient in licensee products (such as infant formula and dairy products), 
and sales of LifeTop Straw and Life Top Cap.     
Other sales: (Animal Health, etc.)

This application has had no effect on the Group’s result, financial situation, 
cash flow or change in equity.

Other changes and interpretations which have come into effect in 2009 have 
had no effects on the Group.

 
Standards and interpretations that have not yet become effective but that may 
affect the Group in the future

 
* IAS 27   IAS 27 Consolidated financial statements and accounting for   
  investments in subsidiaries  – changes  
  The changes explain under what conditions a company shall  
  prepare consolidated financial statements, how a parent   
  company shall report changes in its ownership of a subsidiary  
  and how losses in a subsidiary shall be distributed between   
  companies with and without a controlling interest. 
 
* IFRS 3  IFRS 3 Business combinations – changes
  The changes mean that a large number of acquisition  
  transactions will be considered to be business acquisitions,   
  that transaction costs shall be reported as a cost etc. 

  Principles and rules have been established for how an   
  acquirer in connection with a business acquisition shall report  
  and value the various elements associated with the acquisition.

 
Other canges and interpretations that have not yet become effective have been 
assessed as not be relevant for the group.

Basis of presentation

The financial statements have been prepared according to the cost method of 
accounting unless otherwise stated.  

Non-current assets, Non-current liabilities and provisions consist essentially 
of amounts that are expected to be recovered or settled more than 12 months 
after the closing date. Current assets and current liabilities consist essentially of 
amounts that are expected to be recovered or settled within 12 months from the 
closing date.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires that the management 
exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a high degree of judgment or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial 
statements, are disclosed in Note 29.

Scope of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include those companies in which the 
Parent Company has a controlling influence. Control is exercised where the 
Company directly or indirectly has the power to govern the financial and oper-
ating policies of an entity so as to obtain economic benefits from its activities. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the purchase method, which means that the acquisition of a subsidiary is 
regarded as a transaction in which the Group indirectly acquires the subsidi-
ary’s assets and assumes its liabilities and contingent liabilities. The Group’s 
cost of acquisition for the investment in the subsidiary is determined through 
a purchase price allocation in connection with the acquisition. The cost of the 
acquisition is calculated as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments 
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.
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All intra-group balances and transactions, including unrealised gains or losses 
arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

Foreign currencies

Functional currency
The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environments 
in which the Group’s companies operate.

Transactions
Transactions in foreign currency are translated to the functional currency at 
the rate of exchange applicable on the transaction date. Monetary assets and 
liabilities in foreign currency are translated to the functional currency at the 
closing day rate. Foreign exchange gains/losses arising on translation are rec-
ognized in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities carried 
at cost are translated at the rate of exchange applicable on the transaction date. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities carried at fair value are translated to the 
functional currency at the rate of exchange applicable on the date when the fair 
values were determined. Foreign exchange differences arising on operating 
receivables and liabilities are recognized in operating profit, while exchange 
differences arising on financial assets and liabilities are recognized among net 
financial items.

Financial statements of foreign operations 
Assets and liabilities in foreign operations are translated from the functional 
currency of the foreign operation to the Group’s reporting currency, SEK, at 
the closing day rate of exchange.  Income and expenses in foreign operations 
are translated to SEK at an average rate that is a reasonable approximation of 
actual rates on the respective transaction dates. An average rate is published 
quarterly. Translation differences arising on translation of foreign operations 
are recognised directly in the consolidated equity as a translation reserve.

Net investments in foreign operations 
Exchange differences arising on translation of long-term loans that form 
part of the net investment in a foreign operation are deferred to a translation 
reserve in equity.

Associated companies 

Associated companies are those companies in which the Group has a significant 
but not controlling influence.
Investments in associated companies are accounted for using the equity method 
of accounting and are initially recognised at cost on the acquisition date and are 
subsequently adjusted to reflect the Company’s share of fair value changes in 
the net assets of the associated company.

Segment reporting

Since 2003, the Company has had only one business area, Animal & Human 
Health, consisting of the Human Health and Animal Health marketing units. 
As from 1 January 2009, the Group has implemented IFRS 8 Business segments. 
The Group management has analysed the Group’s internal reporting and has 
established that the Group’s activity is governed and evaluated on the basis of 
the following segments: 
 Finished consumer products: Sales of tablets, drops and oral health products, etc.
Component products: Royalty income from the use of Reuteri, sales of cultures as 
an ingredient in licensee products (such as infant formula and dairy products), 
and sales of LifeTop Straw and Life Top Cap.  
Other sales: (Animal Health, etc.)

Revenue

BioGaia’s gross sales consist primarily of revenue from the sale of finished 
consumer products (tablets, drops and oral health products) to distributors, but 
also revenue from the sale of component products such as royalties for the use 
of Reuteri in licensee products (such as infant formula and dairy products), rev-
enue from the sale of Reuteri cultures for use in licensee products and revenue 
from the sale delivery systems such as straws and caps.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the amount can be 
measured in a reliable manner, when it is probable that the economic benefits 
will flow to the Company and when the criteria have been met for delivery in 
accordance with the sale and shipping conditions. 
 
Royalties are measured as a percentage of the licensee’s reported sales value 
for consumer products containing BioGaia’s products, and are recognised on 
a monthly or quarterly basis. License revenue received in connection with the 
signing of agreements is accrued in cases where it is intended to cover costs 
until the time of launch. In other cases, the revenue is recognised immediately.

Interest income is recognised in the income statement for the period in which 
it arises.

Leases

Leased assets are classified as operating leases, in so far as all the risks and 
rewards incident to ownership have not been substantially transferred to 
BioGaia. The leasing payments are therefore recognised over the lease term on 
a linear basis.  

Pensions

All employees are subject to mandatory retirement in accordance with 
Swedish law, currently at the age of 65 years. The Company has no pension 
commit¬ments other than the annual payment of pension insurance premiums. 
Pension insurance premiums are reported as expenses as incurred. 

Income tax expense 

Current tax refers to the tax computed on the year’s taxable profit. Deferred 
tax refers to the tax calculated partly on the basis of temporary differences and 
partly on taxable deficits. On each closing day, an assessment is made to deter-
mine whether to recognise deferred tax assets not previously recognised in the 
balance sheet. Such tax assets are recognised to the extent that they are expected 
to be used against future taxable profits.

Research and development costs

Costs related to research undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific 
or technical knowledge in the Group’s operations are reported as expenses as 
incurred.  
 
Costs for development, where knowledge and understanding gained from 
research and practical experience are directed towards producing new prod-
ucts, processes or systems, are recognized as intangible assets in the balance 
sheet when they meet the criteria for capitalization according to IAS 38, i.e. 
if the technical and commercial feasibility of the product or process has been 
established, and if the Group has adequate resources to complete development 
and thereafter either use or sell the asset. It shall also be probable that the future 
economic benefits attributable to the asset will flow to the Company and that 
the cost of the asset can be reliably measured. The reported value includes 
all directly attributable costs, such as those for materials, external costs and 
salaries to employees. Other development costs are reported as expenses in the 
income statement for the period in which they arise.
 
An individual assessment is made quarterly of all ongoing research and 
development projects to determine which costs for the respective project are 
capitalisable and to look for any indications of impairment.

The Company has a number of projects that meet the criteria for capitalisation and 
are recognised in the balance sheet. In 2009, no development costs were considered 
to meet these criteria, and for this reason all costs were reported as expenses.

Intangible and tangible assets

Intangible and tangible assets are recognised at cost with a deduction for ac-
cumulated amortisation/depreciation according to plan.

BioGaia 2009          Notes
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■ Note 2 Segment reporting

Since 2003 the company has had only one operating segment, Animal & Human Health, which consists of the Human Health and Animal Health market units.

Starting on 1 January 2009, the Group has implemented IFRS 8 Operating Segments. The Group Management has analysed the Group’s internal reporting and established that the Group’s operations 
are steered and evaluated based on the following segments:

-   Finished consumer products: sales of tablets, drops and oral health products, etc.

-   Component products: sales of cultures as an ingredient in licensee products, products (such as baby formula and dairy products), royalty income from the use of Reuteri and sales of LifeTop Straw                     
   and Life Top Cap.

-  Other products: Animal Health, etc

Revenue by segment  Group  Parent Company

 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 

Finished consumer products 147,673 106,325 72,984 142,918 105,172 73,714

Component products 53,814 36,931 31,826 53,675 36,480 31,550

Other products 1,974 1,934 1,770 1,974 1,934 1,770

 203,461 145,190 106,580 198,567 143,586 107,034
 
    

Gross profit by segment       

Finished consumer products 94,804 68,728 46,378 94,281 68,495 46,372

Component products 38,816 26,631 23,704 38,803 26,283 23,459

Other products 1,690 1,597 1,376 1,690 1,597 1,376

 135,310 96,956 71,458 134,774 96,375 71,207
 

 31-dec 31-dec 31-dec 31-dec 31-dec 31-dec

Trade receivables by segment 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 

Finished consumer products 23,448 20,400 14,725 21,406 19,460 14,658

Component products 4,929 8,050 3,073 4,874 7,978 2,714

Other products 344 394 71 344 394 71

 28,721 28,844 17,869 26,624 27,832 17,443

During 2009, Sek 76.3 million, or 37.5% of the revenue, was related to three customers, two in the Finished Consumer Products segment and one in the Component Products segment (2008: SEK 
41.3 million or 28.5%)

The following depreciation/amortisation schedules are applied:

Intangible assets   Group      Parent Company
Capitalised development expenditure 5–10 yrs 5–10 yrs 
Licenses 5 yrs 5 yrs
Brands 5 yrs 5 yrs

Tangible assets 
Production equipment 5 yrs 5 yrs
Equipment and computers 3–5 yrs 3–5 yrs

Amortisation of intangible assets is started when a project has been completed 
and the product begins to generate revenue.

The amortisation period varies between 5- 10 years depending on the estimated 
useful life of the project. The only project with an amortisation schedule of 
more than 5 years is the Animal Health project, for which the amortisation 
period is matched to the term of the sales contract.

On each balance sheet date, an assessment is made as to whether there is any 
indication that an asset may be impaired, in which case the recoverable amount 
of the asset is calculated. If this is lower than the carrying amount, the value is 
written down to the recoverable amount.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of the purchase value and the net realisable 
value, including provisions for obsolescence. The purchase value is measured 
according to weighted average prices.  

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and at bank.  

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial instruments in the Group are measured and recognised in accordance 
with the regulations in IAS 39.

The financial assets recognised as assets in the balance sheet include cash and 
cash equivalents, short-term investments, customer receivables and loans. 
Financial liabilities and equity include accounts payable and payments in 
advance from customers.

 
Financial assets and liabilities are initially reported at cost, corresponding to fair 
value including additional transaction costs for all financial assets and liabilities 
with the exception of those which are classified as reported at fair value in the 
income statement. Subsequent reporting depends on how the instruments have 
been classified according to the following:

A financial asset or liability is recognised in the balance sheet when the Compa-
ny becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instru¬ment. Customer 
receivables are recorded in the balance sheet when an invoice has been sent. 
Financial liabilities are recognised when the counterparty has performed and 
there is a contractual obligation to pay, even if no invoice has been received. 
Customer receivables are recorded initially at the purchase price and thereafter 
at the accrued purchase price reduced by any reservation for depreciation.  Any 
writing down of customer receivables is reported in the income statement.  
Accounts payable are recorded when an invoice has been received.

A financial asset is removed from the balance sheet when the Company’s rights 
under the agreement are realised or expire or if the Company relin¬quishes 
control thereof. The same applies to a part of a financial asset. A financial  
liability is removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the 
agreement is discharged or otherwise extinguished. The same applies to a part 
of a financial liability.

The purchase or sale of a financial asset is recognised on the trade date, which 
is the date on which the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.

The Company classifies its financial assets and liabilities in the following categories; 
Financial assets valued at fair value through profit or loss, Customer receivables 
and loans, Held-to-maturity investments and Other financial liabilities.
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  Group   Parent Company 

 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Net sales by geographical market    

Europe 138,430 93,973 62,354 138,423 93,674 62,269

USA and Canada 14,571 8,851 7,736 14,437 8,698 7,544

Asia 37,386 30,618 25,895 32,633 29,466 26,626

Rest of world 13,074 11,748 10,595 13,074 11,748 10,595

 203,461 145,190 106,580 198,567 143,586 107,034

     
 More than 90% of the Group’s total assets, amounting to SEK 179,814 thousand (154,306) are located in Europe. 

Of the Group’s capital expediture on tangible and intangible assets, totalling SEK 2,895 thousand 2,373), more than 90% pertained to Europe.

Sales in Sweden amounted to SEK 9.2 million (6.7) or 4,5% (4,6%).

The Group’s fixed assets amount to SEK 25.7 miilion, of which SEK 25.4 million are located in Sweden and SEK 0.3 million in other countries (USA and Japan). 
 

     
■ Note 3 Revenue 

  Group   Parent Company 

 2009 2008  2007 2009 2008 2007

Royalties 7,761 6,629 11,728 7,761 6,629 11,728

Product revenue 195,700 138,561 94,852 190,806 136,957 95,306

 203,461 145,190 106,580 198,567 143,586 107,034

    
 

■ Note 4 Other operating income    

  Group   Parent Company 

 2009 2008  2007 2009 2008 2007

Damages received – – 866 – – 866
Exchange gains on operating 
receivables/liabilities                              750 4,059 793 750 4,059 793
Other income                          – – 32 – – 32

 750 4,059 1,691 750 4,059 1,691

■ Note 5 Employees and personnel expenses, remuneration to senior executives 
   

Average number of employees by country  

    

 2009  of whom, men 2008  of whom, men 2007 of whom, men

Parent Company    

Sweden 35 13 31 12 30 12 
 

Subsidiaries

Sweden 1 1 1 1 – –
Japan 4 3 4 3 5 5 
USA                                                        3 1 3 1 2 –

Total subsidiaries 8 5 8 5 7 5

Total Group 43 18 39 17 37 17

    

The number of employees in the Group on 31 December 2009 was 45 (42).

  

Distribution of salaries and other remuneration by country and between Board members, etc., and other employees 
    

 2009  2008  2007 

      

          Board and MD  Other employees  Board and MD  Other employees Board and MD Other employees

Parent Company   

Sweden 3,380 16,703 3,276 14,325 2,909 12,791 
  
Subsidiaries
Sweden 886 – 236 – – – 
Japan 1,804 2,105 768 2,680 1,372 3,045
USA – 2,484 – 1,578 – 893

Total subsidiaries 2,690 4,589 1,004 4,258 1,372 3,938

Total Group 6,070 21,292 4,280 18,583 4,281 16,729 
 

Total salaries and social security expenses 

  Group   Parent Company 

 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Salaries and other remuneration 27,362 22,863 21,010 20,083 17,601 15,700 
Pension expenses for the  
Board and MD 1,703 461 377 1,455 379 377 
Pension expenses for other employees 1,969 1,888 1,461 1,709 1,690 1,373 
Other social security expenses 7,178 6,158 5,655 6,551 5,856 5,249 

Total 38,212 31,370 28,503 29,798 25,526 22,699

BioGaia 2009          Notes
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Sickness absence in the Parent Company as a percentage of total number of working hours  
    

  2009 2008 2007

Total sickness absence  4% 4% 4%  

Of which, long-term  75% 78% 75%   
Sickness absence for men  1% 1% 4%   
Sickness absence for women  6% 6% 3%
Employees 29 years or younger  *) *) *)   
Employees aged 30–49 years  6% 6% 5%   
Employees 50 years and older  1% *) *)  
 
*) Not reported because of an exception in the legislation which says that the information shall not be reported if the number of employees in a class does not exceed 10.

Pensions and insurances 
All employees are subject to mandatory retirement in accordance with Swedish law, currently at the age of 65 years. The Company has no pension commitments other than 
payment of annual pension insurance premiums. For all employees over the age of 28 years, the following pension insurance premiums are paid in relation to salary:  
    
 

    

Pensionable salary within the range: 0–7.5 base amounts  7.5–20 base amounts  20–30 base amounts

Premium: 6%  15%  6%

     
All employees aside from the Managing Director and Deputy Managing Director are covered by health insurance, with benefits, in addition to compensation from the Social  
Insurance Office according to the following:      
Each individual is entitled to benefits in the following amounts:

 

Salary in range of: 0–7.5 base amounts  7.5–20 base amounts  20–30 base amounts

Sickness benefits after 3 months 0%  65%  33%

Disability retirement 15%  65%  33%

Remuneration to senior executives    
Remuneration to the Chairman and members of the Board is paid according to the decision of the Annual General Meeting. 
 The Board has appointed a remuneration committee consisting of Board Chairman David Dangoor and Board member Stefan Elving.  
The remuneration committee handles matters related to remuneration and other terms of employment of senior executives.  
The principles for remuneration to senior executives are approved by the Annual General Meeting.  
The task of the remuneration committee is to prepare recommendations in accordance with these principles.

Remuneration to the Managing Director and other senior executives employed by the Company consists of basic salary, variable remuneration and other benefits. 
Other senior executives comprise the 8 persons who together with the Managing Director and Deputy Managing Director make up the executive management team. 
One senior executive works on a consulting basis since May 2003. 

In the event of termination by the Company, the Managing Director and Deputy Managing Director are entitled to full salary during an 18-month period of notice.  
 Other senior executives have a period of notice of at least 3 months in the event of termination by the Company. In 2009, extra pension payments were made for the Managing Director and Deputy 
Managing Director, amounting respectively to SEK 600 thousand and SEK 480 thousand, furthermore the Company pays the cost of health insurance that provides sickness benefits equal to 75% 
of salary after a qualifying period of 3 months and in the event of early retirement.  In other respects, the Managing Director has the same benefits as other employees. 
No agreements for termination benefits exist for the Managing Director or other senior executives.  
  

         
Remuneration and other benefits during the year    Pension     
    insurance 
   Variable including health Other     
 Director's fees Basic salary remuneration insurance remuneration Total

Board Chairman, David Dangoor 200     200
Board member, Jan Annwall (Deputy MD)  1,116 42 657  1,815 
Board member, Stefan Elving 100     100 
Board member, Thomas Flinck 100     100 
Board member, Inger Holmström 100     100 
Board member, Jörgen Thorball 100     100 
Board member, Paula Zeilon 100     100 
Managing Director Peter Rothschild  1,470 53 798  2,321 
Other senior executives (8 persons)  5,200 149 671 1,975 7,995

 700 7,786 244 2,126 1,975 12,831 

Comments on the table

Other remuneration to other senior executive refers to consulting fees to a former employee who has worked for the Company on a consulting basis since 2003 and is a member of the executive 
management team.

 

In June 2007 BioGaia carried out a warrant program that was approved by the AGM 2007. A total of 128,950 warrants were subscribed for by the employees (of which 27,000 by the then excisting 
management). Each warrant grants the holder the right to subscribe for one class B share for SEK 76.70 during the period from 15 May 2010 to 31 August 2010. The warrant price was calculated 
according to the customary valuation method (Black & Scholes model) and amounted to SEK 5.32 per warrant, which meant that the employees subscribed for the options on market-based terms. 
The warrant price was calculated according to the Black & Scholes model using a volatility of 30% and a risk-free interest rate of 3.92%. 

Gender distribution  
 2009  2008  2007 

 Women Men Women Men Women Men

Board members 2 5 2 5 3 4 
Management including MD  2 8 2 8 2 7 
  

■ Note 6 Auditing fees     

 2009  2008  2007 
 Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group Parent Company
Grant Thornton Sweden AB

Audit assignments  526 526 421 421 346 346 
Other assignments 219 219 129 124 59 59 
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Cherry, Bekaert & Holland, L.L.P.    

Audit assignments  66 – 57 – 42 – 
Other assignments 156 – 106 – 92 – 
 

Nakashima Accounting Firm    

Audit assignments  17 – 36 – 36 – 
Other assignments – – – – – – 
 

Audit assignments refer to examination of the consolidated financial statements, the accounts and the administration of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director of the Company, other 
tasks incumbent on the Company’s  auditor, and advice or other assistance prompted by observations from such audits or the performance of other such tasks. All other work is classified as  
“other assignments”.     
   

 

■ Note 7 Result from participations in associated company
  

 2009 2008 2007

Share in result of TwoPac AB 590 –334 –1,103 

    

■ Note 8 Operating expenses allocated by type of cost  

    

 2009  2008  2007 
  Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group Parent Company

Raw materials and consumables 62,224 58,984 57,226 55,104 38,736 39,639
Change in inventories of finished products  5,941 4,809 –8,992 –7,893 –3,614 –3,812
Personnel expenses 38,331 29,917 30,959 25,352 28,714 22,910
Depreciation/amortisation 4,134 3,792 4,272 4,141 3,980 3,902
Other operating expenses 46,662 41,356 39,942 37,751 31,573 28,601

 157,292 138,858 123,407 114,455 99,389 91,240

The item “administrative expenses” includes lease payments of SEK 89 thousand (132). Total minimum future lease payments pertaining to operating leases fall due as follows:
Within one year: 105   
Within two to five years: 112
The Group’s future payment commitments for leases amount to SEK 9.2 million, of which SEK 8.7 million refers to the Parent Company. The Group’s rents fall due for payment in an amount of SEK 
3.0 million within one year and SEK 6.2 million within two to five years.
 

■ Note 9 Financial income

  Group   Parent Company

 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Interest income 878 2,744 1,882 1,713 3,545 2,152
Unrealised profit on forward exchange contracts 4,550 – – 4,550 – –

 5,428 2,744 1,882 6,263 3,545 2,152
 
The Parent Company and the Group have entered into forward exchange contracts in EUR for a total of EUR 7,800,000 at an average exchange rate of SEK 10.70 of which EUR 7.2 million will mature 
in 2010 and EUR 0.6 million in 2011.  
The unrealised foreign exchange loss is reported as a financial income/expense.
 
 
	
■ Note 10 Financial expenses
 Group   Parent Company 

 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Interest expenses  – – 10 – – 10
Unrealised losses on forward exchange contracts  – 4,501 – – 4,501 –

Other financial expenses 63 54 65 58 52 56

 63 4,555 75 58 4,553 66
      

  

■ Note 11 Tax on result for the year
 2009  2008  2007 

 Group Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group Parent Company

Current tax                                            –68 – –9 – –30 –
Deferred tax                                             –17,000 –17,610 12,100 11,660 9,000 9,000

 –17,068 –17,610 12,091 11,660 8,970 9,000

 2009  2008  2007
 Group Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company

Deffered tax expense/tax income
 
Deferred tax expense related to utilisation of   
previously capitalised loss carryforwards –17,597 –17,608 – – – –
Deferred tax income related to loss  
carryforwards capitalised during the year 608 – 12,092 11,749 9,004 9,004
Deferred tax related to temporary differences –11 –2 8 –89 –4 –4

 –17,000 –17,610 12,100 11,660 9,000 9,000 
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Reconciliation of nominal tax and actual tax expenses 
     
Reported result before tax 53,113 53,806 24,029 17,812 10,689 9 044

Nominal tax 26.3% / 28% –13,969 -14,151 –6,728 –4,987 –2,993 –2 532
Tax effect of utilisation of not previously  
capitalised loss carryforwards – – 9,254 9,196 5,553 5 526 
Tax effect of non-capitalised loss carryforwards –3,187 – –2,153 – –2,175 –
Tax effect of capitalised loss carryforwards  
on losses related to previous years – – 12,092 11,749 9,004 9 004 
Tax effect of changed tax rate – – –546 –546 – – 
Tax effect of other non-deductible and non-taxable items 235 –3,457 263 –3,663 –50 –2 994
Tax effect of group adjustments –136 – –99 – –365 –
Tax effect of temporary adjustments –11 –2 8 –89 –4 –4

 –17,068 –17,610 12,091 11,660 8,970 9 000
 
Deferred tax asset  
 2009  2008  2007
 Group Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company

Opening balance, 1 January 21,100 20,660 9,000 9,000 – –
The year's tax income –17,000 –17,610 12,100 11,660 9,000 9,000

Closing balance, 31 December 4,100 3,050 21,100 20,660 9,000 9,000
 
The Group's loss carryforwards amounted to a total of SEK 45,368 thousand (97,899) at 31 December 2009. 
Loss carryforwards of SEK 15,590 thousand (80,235) are attributable to the Swedish companies and therefore have no specified expiration date.  
No deferred tax has been recognised on loss carryforwards amounting to SEK 29,779 thousand (17,664 ). 
These carryforwards are attributable to the Japanese subsidiary and, SEK 2,210 thousand will expire in the financial year 2013, SEK 7,768 thousand in 2014, SEK 7,686 thousand in 2015 and SEK 
12,115 thousand 2016.     
   
 
■ Not 12 Minority interest 
 2009 2008

Opening balance, 1 January 99 –
Minority payment of share capital – 99 
Minority share in profit –265 –33 
Impairment loss on receivable from minority – 33  

Closing balance, 31 December –166 99  

The minority interest refers to 9.9% own by the managing Director of the subsidiary Capable AB.  
   
      
■ Note  13 Intangible assets    
 
Group and Parent Company    
    
  Capitalised development expenditure   Licenses and brands Total intangible assets

Accumulated cost 
Opening balance, 1 January 2007 26,875 2,528 29,403 
Purchases – – –

Closing balance, 31 December 2007 26,875 2,528 29,403
   
Opening balance, 1 January 2008 26,875 2,528 29,403
Purchases – – –

Closing balance, 31 December 2008 26,875 2,528 29,403

Opening balance, 1 January 2009 26,875 2,528 29,403
Purchases – – –

Closing balance, 31 December 2009 26,875 2,528 29,403
    
Accumulated amortisation    
Opening balance, 1 January 2007 15,469 2,518 17,987
The year’s amortisation 3,207 10 3,217

Closing balance, 31 December 2007 18,676 2,528 21,204 
   
Opening balance, 1 January 2008 18,676 2,528 21,204 
The year’s amortisation 3,149 – 3,149

Closing balance, 31 December 2008                 21,825                   2,528 24,353

Opening balance, 1 January 2009 21,825 2,528 24,353 
The year’s amortisation 2,765 – 2,765

Closing balance, 31 December 2009               24,590                    2,528 27,118

Carrying amounts    
 
At 1 January 2007                                             11,406                      10 11,416 
At 31 December 2007 8,199 0 8,199 
At 31 December 2008 5,050 0 5,050
At 31 December 2009 2,285 0 2,285
 
Capitalised expenses include internally generated and externally acquired assets.
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Amortisation is recognised on the following lines in the income statement
       
 2009  2008  2007 
       
 Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group Parent Company

Research and development expenses 2,765 2,765 3,149 3,149 3,217 3,217

 2,765 2,765 3,149 3,149 3,217 3,217

Amortisation begins when a project has been completed and product sales have been started. The amortisation period varies between 5–10 years depending on the estimated useful life of the project. 
Amortisation has been started for all projects. These refer to BioGaia probiotic tablets, Animal Health products, Oral Health products and LifeTop Cap. These projects will be fully amortised in 1–3 years. 

  

Total research and development expenditure      

 2009   2008  2007
       
 Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group Parent Company

Total R&D expenditure 23,949 24,250 19,560 19,659 14,721 14,567

The year’s capitalisation of development expenses  – – – – – –

Uncapitalised R&D expenditure 23,949 24,250 19,560 19,659 14,721 14,567

Amortisation/depreciation recognised        
in R&D expenses 3,051 3,028 3,470 3,383 3,217 3,217

R&D expenses affecting income 27,000 27,278 23,030 23,042 17,938 17,784

■ Note  14 Tangible assets    

Group     
                                                                  
                                                        Production equipment         Office equipment and computers   Total tangible assets

Accumulated cost 
    
Opening balance, 1 January 2007          2,192                        6,263 8,455 
Purchases 1,210                        786 1,996 
Translation difference –                         –69 –69

Closing balance, 31 December 2007        3,402                        6,980 10,382 
   
Opening balance, 1 January 2008          3,402                        6,980 10,382 
Purchases 291                        2,089 2,380
Sales and disposals –                       –29 –29 
Translation difference –                         287 2,878

Closing balance, 31 December 2008          3,693                       9,327 13,020
 
Opening balance, 1 January 2009 3,693 9,327 13,020 
Purchases 826 2,072 2,898 
Translation difference – –137 –137

Closing balance, 31 December 2009 4,519 11,262 15,781
 
Accumulated depreciation    
Opening balance, 1 January 2007 1,932                        5,134 7,066 
Depreciation 304                           459 763 
Translation difference –                           –64 –64

Closing balance, 31 December 2007 2,236                        5,529 7,765

Opening balance, 1 January 2008 2,236                        5,529 7,065 
Depreciation 352                           769 1,121 
Sales and disposals –                           –2 –2 
Translation difference –                        200 200

Closing balance, 31 December 2008 2,588                        6,496 9,084
 
Opening balance, 1 January 2009 2,588                        6,496 9,084 
Depreciation 309                           1,068 1,377
Translation difference –                        –104 –104

Closing balance, 31 December 2009 2,897                       7,460 10,357 
 
Carrying amounts   
 
At 1 January 2007 260                        1,129 1,389
At 31 December 2007 1,166                          1,451 2,617
At 31 December 2008 1,105                       2,831 3,936
At 31 December 2009 1,622                       3,802 5,424

Parent Company    
    
  Production equipment         Office equipment and computers   Total tangible assets

Accumulated cost    
Opening balance, 1 January 2007 2,192 5,025 7,217

Purchases 1,210 616 1,826

Closing balance, 31 December 2007 3,402 5,641 9,043

   
Opening balance, 1 January 2008 3,402 5,641 9,043 
Purchases 291 2,020 2,311 
Sales and disposals – –29 –29

Closing balance, 31 December 2008 3,693 7,632 11,325 
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Opening balance, 1 January 2009 3,693 7,632 11,325 
Purchases 316 2,007 2,323
Sales and disposals –1,716 – –1,716

Closing balance, 31 December 2009 2,293 9,639 11,932
 
Accumulated depreciation    
Opening balance, 1 January 2007 1,932 4,140 6,072
Depreciation 304 380 684

Closing balance, 31 December 2007 2,236 4,520 6,756 
    
Opening balance, 1 January 2008 2,236 4,520 6,756
Depreciation                            352               638 990
Sales and disposals – –2 –2

Closing balance, 31 December 2008 2,588 5,156 7,744

Opening balance, 1 January 2009 2,588 5,156 7,744
Depreciation                          32              995 1,027 
Sales and disposals –694 – –694

Closing balance, 31 December 2009 1,926 6,151 8,077
 
Carrying amounts 
    
At 1 January 2007 260 885 1,145 
At 31 December 2007 1,166 1,121 2,287 
At 31 December 2008 1,105 2,476 3,581
At 31 December 2009 367 3,488 3,855 
 
Depreciation is recognised on the following lines in the income statement  
 
 2009  2008  2007 
       
 Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group Parent Company

Cost of goods sold – – – – – –
Selling expenses 931 602 661 617 500 443
Administrative expenses 162 162 139 139 92 92
Research and development expenses 285 263 321 234 171 149

 1,378 1,027 1,121 990 763 684
 
■ Note 15 Financial assets    
     
Participations in group companies    
  2009  2008  2007
  Parent Company  Parent Company  Parent Company

At beginning of year  4,469  4,137  4,137
Conditional share holder contribution CapAble AB  3,000  –  –
Purchase of shares in CapAble AB   –  901  –
Impairment loss on the shares in BioGaia Japan Inc.  –  –569  –

      
Book value at end of year  7,469  4,469  4,137 
  
 Specification of the Parent Company’s equity holdings in group companies 
    
Subsidiary/corp.reg.no./reg. office  No. of shares Holding, %  Book value

BioGaia Biologics Inc. /–/Raleigh, NC, USA  100,000 100 0
TriPac AB /556153-2200/Lund  10,000 100 3,568
CapAble AB /556768-3601/Stockholm  90 100 90,1 3,901
BioGaia Japan Inc. /–/Hiroshima, Japan  180 100 0 

    7,469   
  
The assets and liabilities of the American subsidiary BioGaia Biologics Inc. have been translated at the closing day rate of exchange, SEK 7.19 (7.77). All items in the income statement have been translated 
at the average exchange rate during the year, SEK 7.65 (6.59). The assets and liabilities of the Japanese subsidiary BioGaia Japan Inc. have been translated at the closing day rate of exchange SEK 0.078 
(0.086). All items in the income statement have been translated at the average exchange rate SEK 0.081 (0.058). The resulting translation differences have been reported directly against consolidated equity. 
CapAble AB was formed in the autumn of 2008. BioGaia owns 90.1% of the company. CapAble's Managing Director, Staffan Pålsson, owns 9.9% of the company. The minority share of the result 2009 
amounted to SEK -265 thousand.       
Of total purchases made by the Parent Company, 3.3% (3.0) was attributable to group companies.  
Of total sales made by the Parent Company 0.2% (1.0) was attributable to group companies.

Participations in associated companies    
 2009  2008  2007  
 Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group Parent Company

At beginning of year 7,851 7,851 5,585 5,585 5,188 5,188
Conditional shareholder contribution  1,000 1,000 2,000 2,000 500 500 
Conversion of advance payment to 
conditional shareholder contribution – – 600 600  – –
Conversion of loan to conditional  
shareholder contribution – –  –  – 1,000 1,000 
Share in result for the year                   590 – –334  – –1,103 –
Return of impairment loss on participation  
in associated company              – 590 –  – – –
Impairment loss on participation  
in associated company                            – –              – –334 – –1,103

Book value at end of year 9,441 9,441 7,851 7,851 5,585 5,585 
 
 The participations in the asociated company have been written down to the carrying amount in the Group.
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 Specification of the Parent Company’s and the Group’s equity holdings in associated companies 

TwoPac AB/556591-9767/Eslöv 2009 2008 2007
Assets 11,877 9,833 7,798   
Liabilities 6,104 6,137 6,418   
Equity 5,773 3,696 1,380   
Sales 13,440 9,290 2,605   
Net result for the year 1,078 –284 –2,206   
Number of shares 5,000 5,000 5,000   
Holding, % 50 50 50  
Value of equity share in Group 9,441 7,851 5,585   
Book value in Parent Company 9,441 7,851 5,585 

Because BioGaia does not have a controlling influence in TwoPac AB, the participations in the associated company are reported according to the equity method.

 
 
■ Note 16 Non-current receivables from subsidiaries and associated company

Non-current receivables from subsidiaries    

  2009  2008  2007

  Parent Company  Parent Company  Parent Company

At beginning of year  –  1,325  –
Conversion of current to non-current receivable  –  –  1,569
Loan to subsidiary  13,245  10,595  7,795 
Foreign exchange losses   –  –  –201
Product sales   405  730  1,301
Interest income  818  817  285
Provisions for receivables 1)                             –13,446    13,467  –9,424

       1,022  –  1,325 
  
1) The receivable refers to the subsidiary in Japan. Because it is uncertain whether the loan will be repaid within a foreseeable future, a provision has been made for the amount receivable. The remaining 
receivable of SEK 1,022 thousand as of December 31, 2009 refers to the subsidiary CapAble AB.

Receivables from associated companies 

 2009  2008  2007 

        
 Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group Parent Company

At beginning of year 4,400 4,400 4,400 4,400 5,400 5,400
Conversion of loan to conditional  
shareholder contribution – – – – –1,000 –1,000

Closing balance at end of year 4,400 4,400 4,400 4,400 4,400 4,400

     
 The Company has issued a loan to the associated company TwoPac AB. The loan is being used primarily for development of equipment for manufacturing of LifeTop products.

■ Note 17 Inventories          
 2009  2008  2007  
 Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company
Raw materials and consumables 205 205 269 269 122 122

Finished goods and goods for resale 12,972 12,152 18,899 16,962 9,907 9,069

 13,177 12,357 19,168 17,231 10,029 9,191

     
The Company’s provisions for obsolescence amounted to SEK 266 thousand (504) at 31 December 2009. An individual assessment of the obsolescence reserve has been carried out. 

■ Note 18 Trade receivables    
The Group and the Parent Company have recorded a loss of SEK 0 (20) on the write-down of trade receivables in 2009.
Provisions for bad debt losses amounted to SEK 199 thousand (36) at 31 December 2009.
At 31 December 2009, trade receivables of SEK 3,792 thousand (3,317) were overdue without any assessed need for a write-down. 
Of the overdue receivables, SEK 2,245 thousand had been paid as of the closing date.  
 An age analysis of these trade receivables is shown below:

 Group   Parent Company

 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Less than 3 months 3,458 3,244 2,281 3,458 3,172 2,281
3-6 months 334 73 85 297 73 85  

 3,792 3,317 2,366 3,755 3,245 2,366

 
The reported amounts for the Group's trade receivables by currency  are:

 Group   Parent Company

 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

SEK 3,035 4,514 5,031 3,035 4,442 5,031
EUR 22,489 23,389 11,649 22,489 23,389 11,649
USD 499 1 497 444 1 433
DKK 656 – 630 656 – 630
JPY 2,042 940 62 – – –  

 28,721 28,844 17,869 26,624 27,832 17,743
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■ Note 19 Related party transactions

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS, GROUP AND PARENT COMPANY   
The Group owns 50% of TwoPac AB and reports this holding as an associated company.  

The following transactions have been carried out with TwoPac AB:

 Group   Parent Company
 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Interest income 116 285 304 116 285 304
Conditional shareholder contributions rendered 1,000 2,000 500 1,000 2,000 500
Conversion of loan to conditional  
shareholder contribution – – 1,000 – – 1,000
Advance payment converted to shareholder contribution – 600 – – 600 –
Purchase of goods 13,052 8,952 2,259 12,976 8,952 2,259
Advance payment for future delivery – – 600 – – 600
Purchase of plant and equipment – 221 1,195 – 221 1,195

 
Goods are purchased at cost plus profit margin. 
 
 
The closing balances were as follows:    
                              Group and Parent Company  
Non-current receivables from related parties  2009 2008 2007 

Non-current receivables from TwoPac AB  4,400 4,400 4,400 

  4,400 4,400 4,400 

For long-term receivables from TwoPac AB, see also Note 16 and Note 23.

 Group   Parent Company
Current balance from related parties 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007   

Current receivables from TwoPac AB 24 65 85 24 65 85 
Current liabilities from TwoPac AB –704 –118 – –688 –118 –

 –680 –53 85 –664 –53 85 
 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS – PARENT COMPANY
The Parent Company holds 100% of the shares in BioGaia Biologics Inc., USA, BioGaia Japan Inc. and TriPac AB.

The Parent Company holds 90.1% of the shares in CapAble AB. 

The Parent Company and the Group own 50% of TwoPac AB and report this holding as an associated company. 
For transactions with the associated company TwoPac AB – see above.

The following transactions have taken place with BioGaia Japan
   

  2009  2008  2007 

Interest income  818  818  285   
Loan provided  12,223  10,595  7,795
Purchase of services  –  4,241  –
Sale of goods  405  730  1,301
 
Due to uncertainty as to whether the receivable from BioGaia Japan will be recovered within the foreseeable future, a provision has been made for this receivable. 
 
 
The following transactions have taken place with BioGaia Biologics Inc.
   

  2009  2008  2007 

Purchase of services  4,542  3,374  1,925 

The following transactions have taken place with CapAble AB
       

  2009  2008  2007 

Interest income  23  –  –   

Sale of machinery  1,022  –  –
Loan from parent compay  1,022  –  –
Conditional share holder contribution  3,000  –  –
Sales of services  308  553  –
 
The closing balance were at follows:
  31-dec  31-dec  31-dec 

  2009  2008  2007 

Non-current receivables, related party    
Non-current receivables, CapAble AB  1,022  –  –

Current receivables, related party    
Current receivables, CapAble AB  884  553  –
 
Current liabilities, related party    
Current liabilities, BioGaia Biologics Inc  –927  –385  -467    
Current liabilities, BioGaia Japan  –4,241  –4,241  – 

Current liabilities, Tripac AB  –3,336  –3,336  -3,336

  –8,504  –7,962  3,803
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Annwall & Rothschild Investment AB holds 740,668 class A shares and 1,251,391 class B shares, corresponding to 11.6 % of the share capital and 36.3 % of the votes. Annwall & Rothschild Investment 
AB is owned by Peter Rothschild and Jan Annwall, who are Managing Director  and Deputy Managing Director of the Parent Company. No transactions have taken place between BioGaia and Annwall & 
Rothschild Investment AB. 
For further information, please see Note 5 Employees and personnel expenses, remuneration to senior executives.

 
    
 

■ Note 20 Other receivables    

 2009  2008  2007 

        
 Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group Parent Company

VAT refund 1,813 1,781 1,594 1,451 928 918

Tax asset 482 461 461 461 402 402
Forward exchange contracts 2,701 2,701 – – – –

Other receivables 652 29 78 26 435 106

 5,648 4,972 2,133 1,938 1,765 1,426 
 
 

■ Note 21 Prepaid expenses and accrued income      
  

 2009  2008   2007  
 Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group Parent Company

Accrued income 4,617 4,617 1,506 1,506 3,407 3,407

Prepaid rents 604 604 558 558 493 493

Other prepaid expenses 959 775 1,506 1,319 3,700 3,427

 6,180 5,996 3,570 3,383 7,600 7,327
 

  

■ Note 22 Short-term investments    
  2009 2008 2007

Opening balance  80 620 830
Additions  – – –
Write-down to market value  – –540 –210

Closing balance   80 80 620

This item refers to listed securities. The shares have been valued at the quoted market price on the balance sheet date. 
The intention is to sell the shares when an appropriate occasion arises.  

■ Note 23 Financial assets and liabilities     
The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities in the following categories; financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables 
and other financial liabilities.     
   

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss   

The Group’s assets measured at fair value through profit or loss consist of cash and cash equivalents. The financial assets are recognised in the balance sheet and are measured at the closing 
day rate of exchange.

 2009  2008  2007 

Assets (SEK 000s) Fair value Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amouont

Cash and cash equivalents in SEK 90,956 90,956 52,537 52,537 39,772 39,772

Cash and cash equivalents in EUR 7,579 7,579 2,979 2,979 1,516 1,516

Cash and cash equivalents in USD 407 407 969 969 910 910

Cash and cash equivalents in JPY 1,164 1,164 1,132 1,132 591 591

Cash and cash equivalents in DKK 221 221 510 510 188 188
Current investments 80 80 80 80 620 620

Total assets 100,407 100,407 58,207 58,207 43,597 43,597

Held-to-maturity investments  

The Group has not held-to-maturitity investments.   
 

Loans and receivables

 The Group’s holdings of loans refer to the associated company. The loan to the associated company is valued at amortised cost.  The loan is a revolving credit facility that is extended by periods of 
12 months at a time. The loan is expected to be repaid within three years.  

  
   2009  2008  2007 

   Carrying  Carrying  Carrying 

   amount 1)  amount 1)  amount 1) 

Loan to associated company   4,400  4,400  4,400

Trade receivables   28,721  28,844  17,869 

Current receivable from 
associated company   –  –  85                      

Total loans and receivables   33,121  33,244  22,354
  
1) Fair value corresponds to the carrying amount. The maximum credit risks are equal to the reported amounts.     
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Interest rate risks     

Interest rate risks for the loans and receivables are illustrated below:     

   > 1 yr but     
  < 1 yr from < 5 yrs from > 5 yrs from   

Interest conversion/maturity  balance sheet date balance sheet date balance sheet date Interest-free Total

Loan to associated company  – 4,400 – – 4,400 
Interest rate to associated company  – STIBOR 3 m. +1.75% – –  
 
Other financial liabilities   
The Group’s other financial liabilities consist of trade payables liabilities to associated companies and prepayments from customers. 

 2009  2008  2007

 Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying
 value amount value amount value amount

Trade payables 8,099 8,099 6,607 6,607 6,032 6,032
Liability to associated company 664 664 53 53 – –

Prepayments from customer 432 432 999 999 1,532 1,532

Total other financial liabilities 9,195 9,195 7,659 7,659 7,564 7,564 

■ Note 24 Share capital	 	 	 	
The share capital in BioGaia AB consists of 740,668 A-shares carrying 10 votes per share and 16,466,894 B-shares carrying one vote per share.  A- and B-shares carry the same rights to a share in the 
company’s assets and profits.  The equity ratio for both A- and B-shares is SEK 1 per share. All the shares are fully paid for and no shares are reserved for transfer.  No shares are owned by the company 
itself or by its subsidiary.

Other injected capital consists of reserve fund and premium fund

The translation reserve arises in the calculation of foreign net assets according to the acquisition method

The company’s total profits consist of accumulated profits together with transfers from the premium fund and reserve found. In 2009, the Parent Company’s dividend was SEK 6.9 million corresponding to 
SEK 0.40 per share.  The Board and Managing Director propose that the Company shall in 2010 issue an ordinary dividend amounting to SEK 0.90 per share and an extra dividend of SEK 0.60 per share, 
giving a total dividend of SEK 1.50 per share.

The minority interest amounts to 9.9% of the equity in the subsidiary CapAble.

The equity in the BioGaia group consists of the sum of the equity associated with BioGaia AB’s shareholders and the equity associated with minority owners. At the end of the year, the group’s equity 
amounted to SEK 161.6 million (132.4 million)

    
Dividend policy

The ambition is to pay a shareholder dividend equal to 30% of profit after actual paid tax.   

Key ratios

   2009 2008 2007

Number of shares at 31 Dec., thousands 1)    17,208 ,208 17,208 
Average number of shares, thousands   17,208 17,208 17,208 
Number of outstanding warrants, thousands   129 129 129 
Number of outstanding warrants with a dilution effect, thousands   129 – – 
Number of outstanding shares including outstanding warrants  
with a dilution effect, thousands     17,337 17,208 17,208 
Earnings per share, SEK    2.11 2.10 1.14 
Earnings per share after dilution, SEK   2.09 2.10 1.14  
Equity per share, SEK   9.37 7.69 5.52  
Equity per share after dilution, SEK   9.30 7.69 5.52  
Return on equity, %    25 32 23  
Share price on closing day, SEK   80.00 33.10 27.80  
Dividend per share, SEK                                    1.50 1)                             0.40 – 

1) Dividend proposed but not yet approved. The board and Managing Director propose that the Company shall in 2010 issue an ordinary dividend of SEK 0.90 per share and an extra dividend of 
SEK 0.60 per share giving a total dividend of SEK 1.50 per share.

    

■ Note 25 Other liabilities	 	
																																																												   

 2009  2008  2007  
 Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group Parent  Company

Employee withholding tax 687 660 637 637 446 446
Forward exchange contracts – – 4,815 4,815 314 314

Other current liabilities 177 – 173 – 36 1

 864 660 5,625 5,452 796 761

 
■ Note 26 Accrued expenses and deferred income	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 2009  2008  2007  
 Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group Parent  Company

Accrued holiday pay  3,394 3,187 3,301 3,301 2,769 2,769

Accrued social security expenses 608 586 568 568 387 387 
Other accrued expenses 4,634 3,336 4,733 3,080 4,347 4,376

 8,636 7,109 8,602 6,949 7,503 7,532
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■ Note 27 Pledged assets and contingent liabilities	 	 	
 2009  2008  2007 

 Group  Parent Company Group  Parent Company Group Parent Company

Pledged assets       
Floating charges 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 
Contingent liabilities None None None None None None

■ Note 28 Policy for financial risk management	 	
The overall objective of the Group’s finance function is to secure cost-effective financing for the Group’s operations and group companies and to provide secure 
cash management with a market-based return on investment. The overall objective of financial risk management is to minimise the risk for negative effects on the 
Group’s earnings. Consequently, the Group’s financial investments must have a low risk profile. The Group’s assessed risk exposure and related risk management are 
described below:
        

Currency risk

BioGaia has revenue and expenses primarily in the currencies SEK, EUR, USD and DKK. In 2009 the company had a cash flow surplus of approximately EUR 
10,200,000 (6,600,000 ), a cash flow deficit of USD 340,000 (440,000) and a cash flow surplus of DKK 1,300,000 (3,400,000). The increase in sales has also led to 
increased currency risk, for which reason the company has taken currency hedges in EUR. At 31 December 2009 the company had forward exchange contracts for a 
total of EUR 7.8 million at an average exchange rate of SEK 10.70. Foreign exchange contracts of SEK 7.2 milion  mature in 2010, and SEK 0.6 million in 2011.  
     

Interest rate risk

The Group has no interest rate risk.   

Credit risk

BioGaia's credit risks are attached to trade receivables and the loan to the associated company. When signing agreements with new customers, BioGaia always 
carries out an assessment of the customer's financial position. The Company has routines for claiming receivables due and if necessary makes a new evaluation 
of a company’s financial status in order to minimise the risk. The loan to the associated company TwoPac AB has been used to develop machinery for production 
of delivery systems (BioGaia's probiotic straw and LifeTop Cap). TwoPac's primary operations are development of production machinery and manufacturing of 
BioGaia's probiotic drops, straws and LifeTop Cap. The Company's assessment is that TwoPac will show good profitability, and that the loan therefore entails no 
credit risk.The loan from the parent company to the subsidrary CapAble AB has been used to purchase of machinery for manufacturing of LifeTop Cap. The Com-
pany's assessment is that CapAble AB will show good profitability, and that the loan therefore entails no credit risk.     
  

Liquidity risk

Excess liquidity is normally invested at bank interest rates or in fixed-income securities with a high credit rating.     

Cash flow risk

In 2009 BioGaia had a positive cash flow from operating activities before change in working capital, amounting to SEK 52.6 million (32.4).  After changes in work-
ing capital, cash flow was SEK 53.3 million (19.2). Total cash flow for the year was SEK 42.5 million (14.3). Because cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2009 
amounted to SEK 100.3 million (58.1) and cash flow is positive, no infusion of capital is necessary.       
   

Price risk

BioGaia purchases most of its goods in an international market with several alternative suppliers, which reduces the Company's price risk.   

        

■ Note 29 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
Certain sources of uncertainty in accounting estimates and assessments are described below.    
  

BioGaia's Japanese venture

The previously chosen business model in Japan was found to be unsuccessful. Measures have now been taken to change the business model. On the balance sheet date, 
assets in the Japanese subsidiary were reported at SEK 5.0 million. The company assessment is that there is no indication of impairment of these assets. 

 
Participations in associated company and receivable from associated company  

The shares in and receivables from the associated company (TwoPac AB) amount to a total of SEK 13.8 million in both the Group and the Parent Company. 
TwoPac’s profit for the year was SEK 1.1 million. TwoPac AB's core operations are development of equipment and manufacturing of BioGaia’s Probiotic drops 
and straws and LifeTop Cap on behalf of BioGaia. BioGaia’s assessment is that TwoPac will generate good profitability, for which reason no impairment loss was 
recognised on the balance sheet date. 

Participation in group companies and receivables from group companies

The shares in and receivables from the subsidiary CapAble amount to a total of SEK 5.8 million in the Parent Company. CapAble reported a loss SEK 2.3 million for 
the financial year 2009. CapAble, which is 90.1% owned by BioGaia AB, was started in November 2008 to manufacture and sell the patented LifeTop Cap. In this 
bottle closure, it is possible to place sensitive ingredients that could not survive in a beverage within an aluminium blister that is placed inside the cap, to be released 
into the beverage at the time of consumption. The cap has been developed primarily to contain lactic acid bacteria but is also suitable for vitamins and minerals. The 
plastic details are purchased from BeriCap in France, while filling and sealing of the blisters is handled by TwoPac AB in Eslöv. Since the start, CapAble has focused 
mainly on development of production equipment, running in of production and delivery of small volumes to a few customers. BioGaia’s assessment is that CapAble 
will generate good profitability, for which reason no impairment loss was recognised on the balance sheet date.       
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To the general meeting of shareholders in BioGaia AB (publ.) Corp. reg. no. 556380-8723

I have audited the annual accounts, the consolidated accounts, the accounting records and the administration of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director 

of BioGaia AB (publ) for the financial year 2009. The Company's annual report and consolidated financial statements are included in the printed version of this 

document on pages 1-25. These accounts and the administration of the Company as well as the application of the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) adopted by the EU and the Annual Accounts Act when preparing the annual accounts and the consolidated accounts are the responsibility of the Board of 

Directors and the Managing Director. My responsibility is to express an opinion on the annual accounts, the consolidated accounts and the administration based on 

my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Those standards require that I plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable but not absolute assurance that the annual accounts and the consolidated accounts are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a 

test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the accounts. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and their application 

by the Board of Directors and the Managing Director and significant estimates made by the Board of Directors and the Managing Director when preparing the 

annual accounts and consolidated accounts as well as evaluating the overall presentation of information in the annual accounts and the consolidated accounts. As 

a basis for my opinion concerning discharge from liability, I examined significant decisions, actions taken and circumstances of the Company in order to be able 

to determine the liability, if any, to the Company of any Board member or the Managing Director. I also examined whether any Board member or the Managing 

Director has, in any other way, acted in contravention of the Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Association. I believe that my audit provi-

des a reasonable basis for my opinion set out below.

The annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and give a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position and 

results of operations in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Sweden. The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and the Annual Accounts Act and give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial posi-

tion and results of operations. The statutory administration report is consistent with the other parts of the annual accounts and the consolidated accounts.

I recommend to the Annual General Meeting of shareholders that the income statements and balance sheets of the Parent Company and the Group be adopted, 

that the profit of the Parent Company be dealt with in accordance with the proposal in the administration report and that the members of the Board of Directors 

and the Managing Director be discharged from liability for the financial year.

Stockholm, 22 February 2010 

 

Lena de Rosche

Authorised Public Accountant
Grant Thornton Sweden AB        

Audit Report

Stockholm, 22 February 2010

David Dangoor    Peter Rothschild
Chairman                      Managing Director

Jan Annwall                                                             Stefan Elving                                       Thomas Flinck

Inger Holmström                                                 Jörgen Thorball                       Paula Zeilon

My audit report was submitted on 22 February 2010

Lena de Rosche
Authorised Public Accountant
Grant Thornton Sweden AB

 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director hereby give their assurance that the consolidated financial statements and annual report have been prepared in 
accordance with the international accounting standards covered in Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of July 19, 2002, 
on the Application of International Accounting Standards and Generally Accepted Accounting Standards, and give a true and fair view of the financial position 
and results of operations of the Group and the Parent Company. 

The administration report for the Group and the Parent Company gives a true and fair view of the business activities, financial position and results of opera-
tions of the Group and the Parent Company, and describes the significant risks and uncertainties to which the Parent Company and the Group companies are 
exposed.
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Key ratios

 2009 2008 2007 2006            2005 

Net sales, SEK 000s 203,461 145,190 106,580 86,792 59,606

Result before tax, SEK 000s 53,113 24,030 10,689 2,720 –19,825

Net result, SEK 000s 36,045 36,121 19,659 2,720 –19,825

Growth, % 40 36 23 46 47

Operating margin, %  23 18 8 2 –35

Profit margin, % 26 17 10 3 –33 

Current ratio, times  8.2 5.1 5.1 4.1 4.1 

Equity/assets ratio, %  90 86 86 82 82 

Capital employed, SEK 000s 161,119 132,420 94.910 74,530 74,763 

Return on capital employed, %  36 25 13 4 –23 

Return on equity, %  25 32 23 4 –24 

Average number of employees 43 39 37 34 33

  

Data per share     

Number of shares at 31 Dec., thousands 1)  17,208 17,208 17,208 17,208 17,208 

Average number of shares, thousands 17,208 17,208 17,208 17,208 17,208 

Number of outstanding warrants, thousands 129 129 129 – – 

Number of outstanding warrants with a dilution effect, thousands 129  – – – 

Number of outstanding shares including outstanding warrants 

with a dilution effect, thousands   17,337 17,208 17,208 17,208 17,208 

Basic earnings per share, SEK  2.11 2.10 1.14 0.16 –1.15 

Basic earnings per share after dilution, SEK 2.09 2.10 1.14 0.16 –1.15

Earnings per share before tax, SEK 3.09 1.40 0.62 0.16 –1.15

Earnings per share before tax after dilution, SEK 3.06 1.40 0.62 0.16 –1.15 

Equity per share, SEK 9.37 7.69 5.52 4.33 4.17 

Equity per share after dilution, SEK 9.30 7.69 5.52 4.33 4.17 

Share price on closing day, SEK 80.00 33.10 27.80 40.50 19.30 

Dividend per share, SEK                                                                                                                            1.502)                  0.40 – – –

 

 

 

Five-year summary 

Definitions

1) The share capital consists of 740,668 class A shares and 16,466,894 class B shares.
2) Dividend proposed but not yet approved.  

BioGaia 2009          Five-year summary. Definitions

Basic earnings per share
Profit/loss after tax plus/minus minority interests, divided 
by number of shares.

Basic earnings per share after dilution
Profit/loss after tax plus/minus minority interests, divided 
by number of shares plus the number of outstanding 
warrants with a dilution effect.

Capital employed 
Balance sheet total minus interest-free liabilities.

Current ratio
Total current assets divided by current liabilities.

Earnings per share before tax
Profit/loss before tax divided by the number of shares.

Earnings per share before tax after dilution
Profit/loss before tax divided by the number of shares plus 
the number of outstanding warrents with a dilution effect.

Equity/assets ratio
Shareholders’ equity divided by total assets.

Equity per share
Shareholders’ equity divided by the number  
of shares.

Equity per share after dilution
Shareholders’ equity divided by the number of shares plus 
the number of outstanding warrants with a dilution effect.

Growth 
Annual sales less preceding year’s sales, divided by 
preceding year’s sales.

Operating margin
Operating profit or loss plus/minus one-time items in 
relation to sales.

Profit margin
Profit before tax in relation to net sales.

Return on capital employed
Profit/loss before financial items plus financial income, 
divided by average capital employed.

Return on equity
Profit/loss after tax, divided by average shareholders’ 
equity.
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BioGaia 2009          Corporate governance report

Corporate governance in BioGaia

BioGaia is a Swedish public limited company whose class B shares are listed on the
small caps list of the Nasdaq OMX Nordic Exchange Stockholm. The company’s 
operations are governed by the General Meeting of Shareholders, the Board of  
Directors and the Managing Director in accordance with the Swedish Companies 
Act, the Articles of Association and the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance.

Articles of Association

According to BioGaia’s Articles of Association, the Company, directly or 
through subsidiaries or other forms of partnership or cooperation, shall engage 
in the development, production, marketing and sales of products which benefit 
health in the form of pharmaceuticals, natural health products, dietary supple-
ments, food additives and animal feed and suitable delivery systems for these 
products and other therewith compatible activities. The company is registered 
in Stockholm, Sweden. The Articles of Association are available on BioGaia’s 
website under the heading “Corporate Governance”.

General Meeting of Shareholders

The General Meeting of Shareholders is the highest decision-making body. The 
Annual General Meeting (AGM) elects the members of the Board of Directors. 
The responsibilities of the AGM also include the adoption of the Company’s 
income statements and balance sheets, approval of the appropriation of disposable 
profits and discharge from liability for the members of the Board and the Managing 
Director. The Annual General Meeting also elects the company’s auditors.

Annual General Meeting 2009
The 2009 Annual General Meeting of BioGaia was held on 22 April 2009 and 
was attended by shareholders representing 46.8% of the total number of votes 
in the Company. The AGM was also attended by the Company’s Managing 
Director, the Board members elected by the previous AGM, all of the Board 
members elected by the year’s AGM and the Company’s auditor.

Annual General Meeting 2010
The 2010 Annual General Meeting will be held on Thursday, 6 May 2010, at  4:00 
p.m., at Lundqvist and Lindqvist, Klara strand conference, Klarabergsviadukten 90, 
Stockholm.

Notice of Annual General Meeting
Notice of the AGM is given through an announcement in the Official Gazette 
(Post- och Inrikes Tidningar) and Svenska Dagbladet no more than six weeks 
and not less than four weeks prior to the Meeting.

Nominating Committee

The tasks of the Nominating Committee are to prepare recommendations 
regarding election and remuneration for decision by the AGM.

The 2009 AGM resolved that the Nominating Committee would be appointed 
as follows: “The Board Chairman shall convene the three largest shareholders  
in the company, each of which has the right to appoint a member to the 
Nominating Committee together with the Board Chairman. In determining the 
composition of the Nominating Committee, the ownership conditions on 30 
June 2009 shall determine which are the largest shareholders in terms of voting 
power. The Nominating Committee shall be chaired by the member representing  
the largest shareholder at this time. If any of the three largest shareholders 
should waive this right to appoint a member of the nominating committee, the 
shareholder next in order of size shall be given the opportunity to appoint a 
member. The names of the three owner representatives shall be made public as 
soon as they have been appointed, but not later than six months before the 2010 
Annual General Meeting. The term of office of the Nominating Committee shall 
extend until a new Nominating Committee has been appointed”. 

The Nominating Committee has been appointed In accordance with the resolu-
tion of the AGM and consists of Per-Erik Andersson, representing Annwall & 
Rothschild Investment AB, the largest shareholder, the Board Chairman David 
Dangoor, the second largest shareholder, and Sven Zetterqvist, representing 
Livförsäkringsaktiebolaget Skandia, the fourth largest shareholder.   

The Nominating Committee shall prepare recommendations to be put before 
the 2010 AGM for resolution regarding the following matters 
a)  appointment of Chairman of the AGM
b)  election of Board of Directors and auditors

c)  election of Board Chairman
d)  fees for the members of the Board
e)  fees for the auditors
f)  appointment of the Nominating Committee for the 2011 AGM.

All shareholders have had the opportunity to contact the Nominating Committee 
with recommendations for Board candidates for further evaluation with the 
framework of the Committee’s work. No suggestions or proposals have been 
submitted to the Nominating Committee as of today’s date.

 
Board of Directors

According to BioGaia’s Articles of Association, the Board shall consist of not less  
than five and not more than eight members with not more than three deputies. 
The Board is elected annually by the AGM to serve for the period until the 
end of the following AGM. In 2009, the Board has consisted of seven members 
elected by the AGM with no deputies. One Board member, Jan Annwall, who 
has been a member of the Board since 1990, is employed by the Company and 
is also a major shareholder. The six remaining members are independent of 
both the Company and its management. Jan Annwall has notified that he will 
end his employment with the company on 1 April 2010. A presentation of the 
Board is provided on page 30.   
 
BioGaia’s independent legal counsel has been appointed to serve as Secretary at 
Board meetings. The Managing Director is not a member of the Board but is a 
co-opted member at all Board meetings. Other executives in the Company take 
part in Board meetings in order to present reports. The Board has adopted rules 
of procedure that include instructions for the division of responsibilities between 
the Board and the Managing Director and the structure of Board activities during 
the year. The Board has also adopted instructions for the Managing Director, 
authorisation instructions including instructions for liquidity management. The 
rules of procedure, the Managing Director’s instructions and the authorisation 
instructions are reviewed at least once a year.  
 
The Board decides on matters relating to the Group’s overall strategy, organisation  
and management. The Board approves both intermediate reports and the annual  
report before these are published. The Board held nine minuted meetings and 
also a strategy seminar in 2009. At these meetings, the Board has discussed 
budgets, business plans, financial accounts, capital expenditure, financial 
reports and major contracts. At the strategy seminar, the members of the 
management group presented their fields of responsibility and thereafter the 
Board dealt with strategy questions. Paula Zeilon was absent from one meeting 
and Stefan Elving was absent from two meetings. The other Board members 
attended all the meetings.  
 
The Board of Directors continuously assesses its own performance through 
both open discussions and a written evaluation. The results of the written 
evaluation are submitted to the Nominating Committee. 

Board fees

The 2009 AGM resolved that Board fees would be paid in amounts of SEK 
200,000 to the Board Chairman and SEK 100,000 to each of the other Board 
members not employed by the Company. 

Board Chairman

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Board carries out its duties 
in accordance with the Swedish Companies Act and the rules of procedure. 
Through ongoing contact with the Managing Director, the Chairman continuously 
monitors the Company’s development and ensures that the Board is provided 
with the information necessary to carry out its duties. David Dangoor has been 
Board Chairman since the 2007 AGM.

Managing Director

The Managing Director is responsible for overseeing the Company’s business 
development and for supervising and coordinating its day-to-day operations. 
The Board has adopted instructions for the Managing Director which among 
other things regulate his management and development of the Company and 
the provision of reports and decision data to the Board. The Managing Director 
prepares the requisite information and decision data such as reports on the 
Company’s finances, the order situation, significant business and strategic issues 
prior to Board meetings, and presents reports and motivates proposals for 
decision. Furthermore, the Managing Director continuously informs the Board 
Chairman about the Company’s financial and business situation. Every year 
the Board carries out an evaluation of the Managing Director’s performance, 
when no member of the executive management is present.

Corporate governance report 
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Executive Management

BioGaia’s Group Executive Management consists of the 10 persons presented 
on page 31. The Management Group is headed by the Managing Director 
and is responsible for planning, supervising and monitoring the Company’s 
day-to-day operations. Minuted meetings are normally held every four weeks. 
The responsibilities and powers of the Managing Director are regulated by the 
Swedish Companies Act and by the instructions adopted by the Board. The 
responsibilities and powers of the Group Executive Management are defined in 
the established job descriptions and authorisation instructions. 

Remuneration Committee

The Board has appointed a Remuneration Committee consisting of the Board 
Chairman David Dangoor and Board member Stefan Elving. The task of the 
Remuneration Committee is to prepare recommendations for remuneration  
and other terms of employment of the Managing Director and other senior 
executives who together make up the Group Executive Management. The  
principles for remuneration to senior executives are approved by the AGM. 
The Remuneration Committee prepares its recommendations in accordance 
with these principles.

Auditors

BioGaia’s independent auditors are normally appointed by the AGM to serve 
for a period of four years. The 2007 AGM elected Lena de Rosche and Ivar 
Verner (deputy), both from Grant Thornton Sweden AB, as the Company’s 
auditors until the end of the 2010 AGM. By decision of the AGM, auditing fees 
are paid on a current account basis. 
 
The auditors examine the administration of the Company by the Board of  
Directors and the Managing Director and the quality of the Company’s financial 
reporting. At the request of the Board, the auditors also review the six-monthly 
report and the year-end statement. 
 
The auditors report the results of their review to the shareholders through an 
audit report, which is presented to the AGM. In addition, the auditors submit 
written and oral reports to the executive management and the Board. The auditors 
take part in the Board meeting preceding publication of the year-end report 
to present the results of their audit of the annual accounts and observations 
from their ongoing examination of the company’s internal control during the 
financial year.  
 
Grant Thornton has also provided certain tax-related advice and performed 
other audit-related services. Disclosures about remuneration to the auditors are 
given in Note 6.

In view of the Company’s limited size and volume of transactions, the Board 
has decided not to set up any audit committee. Instead, the entire Board of 
Directors meets with the auditors at least once a year in the absence of the  
Managing Director and other member of the executive management.

The Board’s report on internal control over financial reporting for the 
financial year 2009

 
Introduction
As stated in the Swedish Companies Act, the Accounting Act and the Swedish  
Code of Corporate Governance, the Board of Directors is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control. This report has been 
prepared in accordance with these regulations and is accordingly limited to 
internal control of the financial reporting.  
  
Financial reporting
The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company’s organisation is 
structured so that the financial accounts, cash management and other financial 
conditions are controlled in a satisfactory manner. 
 
Each year, the Board of Directors adopts rules of procedure for the Board’s 
activities and instructions regulating the division of responsibilities between the 
Board and the Managing Director. The rules of procedure state which matters 
require approval or confirmation by the Board. At Board meetings, the Managing 
Director reports on matters requiring consideration by the Board.

The Managing Director ensures that the Board is provided with the objective, 
detailed and relevant information required for the Board to make well founded 
decisions and that the Board is continuously informed about the Company’s 
business development and financial position.
 
In addition to the rules of procedure between the Board and the Managing 

Director, BioGaia’s control structure is based on the Company’s organisation 
and operating routines in which roles and responsibilities are defined. There 
is a high level of employee awareness about the importance of maintaining 
good control over financial reporting. The Company’s financial development is 
assessed and monitored on a monthly basis. Financial reports and summaries 
are prepared by the Group’s finance department and are presented to the Board 
quarterly and to the executive management each month.

BioGaia’s values
BioGaia also has a set of shared values of which the Company’s employees are 
well aware (see below).

BioGaia’s values

• Our mission is to distribute our natural products which improve human health

• We aim to be fast, innovative and informal problem-solvers  

• We build strong relationships with our customers by meeting their needs 

• We strive to achieve high quality, delivery reliability and profitability 

• We have ethical principles, are open and honest in dealing with our col-
leagues and partners 

• We take personal responsibility for the success of the company

Risk assessment
The Company works continuously with risk assessment and risk management 
in order to ensure that the risks to which the Company is exposed are managed 
with the framework ultimately established by the Board. The executive man-
agement continuously analyses the Company’s business processes with regard 
to efficiency and risks. 

This work includes the identification of essential risks of error in the financial 
reporting. To limit the risks, suitable processes and controls are built into the 
activity.

The most critical business processes and the absolutely largest values, both  
assets and business and product development, are found in the Parent Company. 
In addition, the majority of the sales take place in the Parent Company. Processes 
that are deemed to be of special importance to BioGaia are sales including quality 
assurance, R&D and manufacturing.

Control activities
The risks identified in the financial reporting are take care of through a number 
of control activities in the Company’s processes. Processes and controls are 
reviewed and updated regularly in order to detect, prevent and correct any 
errors or deficiencies. The control structure also includes the division of powers 
and responsibilities and the executive management’s monthly review of the 
Company’s financial information. 
 
Information and communication
BioGaia has information and communication paths that are designed to promote 
the completeness and correctness of the financial reporting. Authorisation 
instructions and policies are distributed to all employees and can be viewed on 
the Company’s intranet. Once or twice a year, all of BioGaia’s employees meet 
to increase their knowledge about the Company’s processes and goals and to 
exchange information and experiences. In 2009 the Company’s employees met 
for two days in May. 

Follow-up
The executive management makes an annual evaluation of the effectiveness 
of the internal control. Each year, the Company’s elected auditing firm, Grant 
Thornton Sweden AB, also reviews a selection of BioGaia’s routines and 
internal controls. The Board then evaluates this information and ensures that 
measures are taken in respect of the deficiencies identified and the resulting 
recommendations.

The Company has no special internal audit function. In view of the Company’s 
size and the volume of transactions, the Board of Directors’ has decided that 
there is no reason to set up a formal internal audit function.

Stockholm, 22 February 2010

The Board of Directors of BioGaia AB

This corporate governance report has not been examined by the Company’s 
independent auditor.

BioGaia 2009          Corporate governance report
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Trading volume

BioGaia AB’s class B share has been quoted on the Small Cap list of the OMX Nordic Exchange Stockholm since May 1998. In 2009 the trading volume reached just 

over SEK 710 million (240), corresponding to approximately 11 million (7) shares. 

The number of shareholders at 31 December 2009 was 7,328 (6,596). 

The total registered share capital of BioGaia AB consists of 740,668 class A shares and 16,466,894 class B shares.

Share price development

In 2009 the share price increased from SEK 33.10 to SEK 80.00. The highest closing price during the year was SEK 91.00. Market capitalisation at 31 December 2009 

was approximately SEK 1,375 million (570).

Dividend policy 

BioGaia’s ambition is to pay a shareholder dividend equal to 30% of profit after paid tax.

BioGaia’s incentive scheme for the employees 

In June BioGaia carried out a warrant programme that was approved by the AGM. A total of 128,950 warrants were subscribed for by the employees, resulting in a dilu-

tive effect of around 0.7% in the total number of shares and 0.5% in the total number of votes. Each warrant grants the holder the right to subscribe for one class B share 

for SEK 76.70 during the period from 15 May 2010 to 31 August 2010. The warrant price was calculated according to the customary valuation method (Black & Scholes 

model) and amounted to SEK 5.32 per warrant, which means that the employees subscribed for warrants on market-based terms. In valuation according to the Black & 

Scholes model, a volatility of 30% and a risk-free interest rate of 3.92% were used.

The BioGaia share

Figures in brackets refer to the preceding year
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Distribution of ownership (31 Dec. 2009)  

 Total number of shareholders
Number of shares  31 December 2009

1–500 5,331
501–1,000 1,063
1,001–5,000 706
5,001–10,000 90
10,001–15,000 23
15,001–20,000 21
20,000– 94

 7,328

BioGaia 2009          The BioGaia share
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Major shareholders in BioGaia at 31 December 2009      
      
 A shares B Shares, Share capital, No. of votes, Holding Votes

 000s 000s 000s SEK 000s % %

Annwall & Rothschild Inv. AB 741 1,253 1,994 8,663 11.6 36.3

Banque Öhman S.A  906 906 906 5.3 3.8 

David Dangoor (inkl. bolag)   569 569 569 3.3 2.4

Pictet & Cie W8IMY  569 569 569 3.3 2.4

Livförsäkringsaktiebolaget Skandia  511 511 511 3.0 2.1

Futuris  400 400 400 2.3 1.7

Försäkringsaktiebolaget Avanza Pension  353 353 353 2.1 1.5 

Caroline Hamilton  303 303 303 1.8 1.3 

Credit Agricole Suisse SA  300 300 300 1.7 1.3

Hanvad Invest Aktiebolag  268 268 268 1.6 1.1 

Private investment Bank Limited  253 253 253 1.5 1.1 

Tangent  244 244 244 1.4 1.0 

Lars Thunberg  236 236 236 1.4 1.0 

Swedbank Robur Ny Teknik  235 235 235 1.4 1.0 

Handelsbanken Svenska småbolagsfond  230 230 230 1.3 1.0 

Banque Carnegie Luxmbourg SA  215 215 215 1.2 0.9 

SIX SIS AG W8IMY  205 205 205 1.2 0.9 

Swedbank Robur småbolagsfond Europa  170 170 170 1.0 0.7 

Sten Irwe  152 152 152 0.9 0.6 

Subfund Ruffer European FD  150 150 150 0.9 0.6 

Goldman Sachs International LTD  143 143 143 0.8 0,6 

Maerki Baumann & Co AG  140 140 140 0.8 0,6 

Nordnet pensionsföräkring AB  135 135 135 0.8 0.6 

CR Suisse Lux S A PB  132 132 132 0.8 0.6 

Lärerstandens Brandforsikring GE  130 130 130 0.8 0.5

Others  8,265 8,265 8,265 48.0 34.6

Total 741 16,467 17,208 23,877 100.0 100.0

Changes in share capital since the Company’s formation

  Increase in Increase in Total share Total no. of Total no. of Par value, Issue

Year Transaction no. of shares share capital, SEK capital, SEK A shares B shares SEK proceeds, SEK

1990  Company founded   150,000  30,000  5.00  –

1991 New share issue 12,857 64,285 214,285  42,857  5.00 4,500,000

1993 New share issue 12,554 62,770 277,055  55,411  5.00 4,394,341

1995 New share issue 2,303 11,515 288,570  57,714  5.00 806,009

1996 Bonus issue/Split 60,541,986 5,771,400 6,059,970 4,740,278 55,859,422  0.10  –

1996 New share issue 18,200,000 1,820,000 7,879,970 4,740,278 74,059,422  0.10  15,320,000

1997 New share issue 

 Banco Fonder 2,608 696 260,870 8,140,840 4,740,278 76,668,118  0.10  5,760,000

1997 New share issue 

 BioGaia Fermentation 4,400,000 440,000 8,580,840 4,740,278 81,068,118  0.10  7,469,000

1997 New share issue  21,452,099 2,145,210 10,726,050 5,925,347 101,335,148  0.10  38,597,265

1998 New share issue  5     1  5,925,350 101,335,150  0.10   20

1998 Reverse split     592,535 10,133,515  1.00 –

1998 New share issue (IPO on SSE) 2,681,512 2,681,512 13,407,562 740,668 12,666,894  1.00 57,934,131

2000 New share issue November 3,275,000 3,275,000 16,682,562 740,668 15,941,894  1.00 73,031,886

2000 New share issue December 425,000 425,000 17,107,562 740,668 16,366,894  1.00 11,505,294

2004 New share issue Industrifonden 100,000 100,000 17,207,562 740,668 16,466,894 1.00 100,000

*Excluding underwriting costs

BioGaia 2009          The BioGaia share
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Board of Directors and Executive Management

Jörgen Thorball  born in 1962, 

Elected to the Board 2008. 

Physician. Managing Partner  

XOventure Aps. Former interna-

tional senior positions in for exam-

ple Aventis and Pharmacia. Other 

board assignments in Pergamum 

AB, ViroGates A/S, Lina-Medical 

A/S, YourGlobalEye Aps, Immudex 

A/S, Imotions A/S and Alsensa Aps. 

Holds 0 shares.

Stefan Elving Born in 1941. 

Elected to the Board 2001.

Former Marketing Director and

Deputy Managing Director of

ICA Handlarnas AB. Other board

assignments for Arcus AS, Macks 

AS, Svanströms and Cervera AB. 

Holds 0 shares.

David Dangoor Born in 1949. 

Chairman of the Board. 
Elected to the Board 2003.  

M.B.A. Marketing and PR

consultant. Managing Director

of Innoventive Partners LLC.

Former Vice President and 

Marketing Director at Philip Morris 

USA and Philip Morris Interna-

tional. Other board assignments for 

Lifetime Brands, Inc., New York,

ICP Solar Technologies Inc.

Montreal, New York City Ballet

Inc., School of Creative

Leadership, Berlin University and 

Swedish- American Chambers of 

Commerce (SACC NY).  

Holds 518,918 class B shares and 

50,000 class B shares via private 

company.

Thomas Flinck  Born in 1948. 

Elected to the Board 1996.

M.B.A. Managing Director and

partner in Centrecourt AB. Other

board assignments for Centrecourt 

AB and Briggen Tre Kronor AB.

Holds 57 class B shares. 

Paula Zeilon Born in 1962. 

Elected to the Board 2003.

M.Sc.Eng. Lund Institute of

Technology. Partner in Conlega

Affärskonsultbolag AB.

Former Marketing Director,

Amersham Biosciences.

Holds 0 shares.

Inger Holmström Born in 1948. 

Elected to the Board in 2007.

M.A. in Literary History. 

Director of relationships in Paf.

Former Corporate Communica-

tions Director at Coop Norden, 

Posten and Vattenfall. Other board 

assignments for Iris AB, the design 

company Pangea Design, the 

Mannaminne tourist centre and 

Star Management AB.

Holds 500 class B shares.

Jan Annwall Born in 1950. 

Elected to the Board 1990.

M.B.A. Deputy Managing

Director and CFO of BioGaia AB.

Founder and principal shareholder 

in BioGaia AB. 

Holds 370,334 class A shares and  

626,625  class B shares via 

Annwall & Rothschild Investments AB.

Board of Directors 
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Bo Möllstam

Born in 1952, M.B.A.

Director of Intellectual Property.

Employed by the Company since

1990, on a consulting basis

since 2003.

Holds 87,500 class B shares. 

Jonas Weimer

Born in 1971, M.B.A.

Vice President Sales.

Employed by the Company since

1998, in current position since 

2008.

Holds 10,000 class B shares and 

6,000 warrants.

Björn Lindman

Born in 1946, Ph.D.

Senior Vice President Quality  

Assurance & Regulatory Affairs.

Employed by the Company since

1999, in current position 

since 2002.

Holds 0 shares.

Urban Strindlöv

Born in 1964, mechanical engineer.

Senior Vice President Projects and 

Product Development. Employed 

by the Company since 2004.  

Holds 10,000 warrants.

Eamonn Connolly

Born in 1957, Ph.D.

Senior Vice President Research.

Employed by the Company since

2000, in current position 

since 2002.

Holds 5,000 warrants.

Peter Rothschild

Born in 1950, M.B.A.

President, founder and

principal shareholder. Board

assignments in Looft Industries 

AB. Holds 370,334 class A shares 

and 626,625 class B shares via 

Annwall & Rothschild Investments 

AB and 50,000 class B shares 

privately.

Margareta Hagman

Born in 1966, M.B.A.

Senior Vice President  

Accounting, Finance and Investor 

Relation. Employed by the 

Company since 1996.

Holds 5,068 class B shares and 

7,000 warrants.

Jan Annwall

Born in 1950, M.B.A.

Executive Vice President,

founder and principal

shareholder.

Holds 370,334 class A shares

and 626,625 class B shares

via Annwall & Rothschild

Investments AB.

Cristián Contreras Ruiz-Tagle

Born in 1968, M.B.A.

Vice President Marketing.

Employed by the Company

since 2006, in current 

position since 2008.

Holds 7,000 warrants.

Kristina Silverio

Born in 1964. M.Sc. Eng

Vice President Production

and Supply. Employed by the 

Company since 2003, in current 

position since 2005.

Holds 0 shares. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Auditors

Lena de Rosche

Born in 1954. 

Authorised Public Accountant,  

Grant Thornton Sweden AB. 

Auditor for BioGaia AB since 2003.

Deputy Auditor

Ivar Verner

Born in 1947.

Authorised Public Accountant,

Grant Thornton Sweden AB.

Executive Management

BioGaia 2009          Executive Management



The annual report will be distributed to all shareholders. The year-end report, annual report 

and quarterly reports are also available in English. All financial information is published on 

www.biogaia.com and can be ordered from BioGaia’s head office.

The 2010 Annual General Meeting will be held on Thursday, 6 May 2010, at  4:00 p.m., at 

Lundqvist and Lindqvist, Klara strand conference, Klarabergsviadukten 90, Stockholm.

Head office of 

BioGaia AB

Kungsbroplan 3A

Box 3242

SE-103 64 Stockholm 

Sweden

Tel +46 8 555 293 00

Fax +46 8 555 293 01

E-mail: info@biogaia.se

www.biogaia.com

BioGaia AB

Stora Södergatan 47

Box 966

SE-220 09 Lund

Sweden

Tel +46 46 31 19 00 

Fax +46 46 31 19 01

BioGaia Biologics Inc.

6213 -D Angus Drive, 

Raleigh NC 27 617, USA

Tel +1 919 782 3312

Fax +1 919 783 6940

E-mail: info@biogaia.com

BioGaia Japan Inc.

3-17 Komachi, Naka-Ku

730-0041 Hiroshima City

Japan

Tel +81 82 244 5021

Fax +81 82 244 5022


